Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world-wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Sonia Tandon

Date

Effects of Supplemental Calcium and Vitamin D on Toll-like Receptor 5 (TLR5) Expression in the Stroma of the Normal-Appearing Rectal Mucosa of Colorectal Adenoma Patients

By

Sonia Tandon

Master of Public Health

Department of Epidemiology

Veronika Fedirko, PhD, MPH Committee Chair Effects of Supplemental Calcium and Vitamin D on Toll-like Receptor 5 (TLR5) Expression in the Stroma of the Normal-Appearing Rectal Mucosa of Colorectal Adenoma Patients

By

Sonia Tandon

B.S.

The Ohio State University

2016

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Veronika Fedirko, PhD, MPH

An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Epidemiology

2018

Abstract

Effects of Supplemental Calcium and Vitamin D on Toll-like Receptor 5 (TLR5) Expression in the Stroma of the Normal-Appearing Rectal Mucosa of Colorectal Adenoma Patients

By Sonia Tandon

Despite major advances in screening and treatment, colorectal cancer (CRC) remains the third leading cause of death from cancer worldwide. Calcium and vitamin D have both gained appreciable interest as promising chemopreventive agents against colorectal neoplasms, likely due to their anti-inflammatory and cell cycle regulating properties. Recent studies suggest that dysregulation of Toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5), an innate immune sensor for flagellin, may trigger cytokine secretion and pro-inflammatory responses in the colon, contributing to colorectal carcinogenesis. Although some preliminary data suggest that TLR5 may be beneficially modified by calcium and vitamin D, no human data exist. Therefore, we conducted an adjunct biomarker study nested within a larger randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, partial 2 x 2 factorial chemoprevention trial to test the effect of supplemental calcium (1,200 mg daily) and vitamin D (1,000 IU daily) on TLR5 expression in the stroma of normal-appearing rectal mucosa of 105 colorectal adenoma patients. TLR5 expression was measured using standardized, automated immunohistochemistry and quantitative image analysis. Although not statistically significant, the preliminary results of this pilot study suggest that supplemental vitamin D₃, alone or in combination with calcium, may increase TLR5 expression. Our analysis of patient characteristics and biomarker expression at baseline showed that race (P=0.01), having serrated adenomas (P=0.06), and baseline total calcium intake (P=0.04) were associated with TLR5 expression. While not statistically significant, modest associations were also observed with baseline physical activity, BMI, and alcohol consumption, providing further support for TLR5 expression in the stroma of the normal-appearing rectal mucosa as a modifiable, pre-neoplastic marker of risk for colorectal neoplasms. These initial findings are promising and support the continued investigation of modifiable risk factors that may influence inflammatory pathways related to colorectal carcinogenesis.

Effects of Supplemental Calcium and Vitamin D on Toll-like Receptor 5 (TLR5) Expression in the Stroma of the Normal-Appearing Rectal Mucosa of Colorectal Adenoma Patients

By

Sonia Tandon

B.S.

The Ohio State University

2016

Faculty Thesis Advisor: Veronika Fedirko, PhD, MPH

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the

Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Epidemiology

2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

BACKGROUND/LITERATURE REVIEW	1
Colorectal Carcinogenesis Pathway	1
Risk Factors for Colorectal Cancer	2
Calcium and Colorectal Carcinogenesis	4
Vitamin D and Colorectal Carcinogenesis	5
Synergism/Antagonism of Calcium and vitamin D	7
Inflammation, Gut Microbiome, TLR5, and Colorectal Carcinogenesis	8
Significance of the Stroma	11
METHODS	13
Research Aims	13
Clinical Trial Protocol	13
Rectal Biopsy Tissue Collection and Quantification of TLR5	15
Statistical Analysis	17
RESULTS	20
Baseline Characteristics of Study Participants	20
TLR5 Expression by Treatment Assignment and Agent	20
Stratified Analyses	22
TLR5 Expression by Baseline Characteristics	23
DISCUSSION	25
Discussion of Primary Findings	25
Factors Associated with TLR5 Expression	26
Strengths and Limitations	30
Public Health Impact	31
Conclusion and Future Directions	32
REFERENCES	33
TABLES	44
Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of Study Population	44
Table 2. Treatment Effect by Treatment Assignment	45
Table 3. Treatment Effect by Treatment Agent	46
Table 4. Stratified Comparisons of TLR5 Expression by NSAID Use	47
Table 5. Stratified Comparisons of TLR5 Expression by Aspirin Use	48

Table 6. Stratified Comparisons of TLR5 Expression by Baseline Vitamin D	49
Table 7. Stratified Comparisons of TLR5 Expression by Baseline Calcium	50
Table 8. Categorical Baseline Predictors of TLR5 Expression	51
FIGURES	53
APPENDIX	54
Table S.1. Stratified Comparison by Sex-Specific Calcium Intake	54
Table S.2. Predictors of Baseline TLR5 Expression in Upper 40% of Stroma	55
Table S.3. Predictors of Baseline TLR5 Expression in Lower 60% of Stroma	57
Table S.4. Predictors of Baseline TLR5 Expression in ϕh	59
Figure S.1. Mean TLR5 Expression Across Stroma- Calcium vs. Placebo	61
Figure S.2. Mean TLR5 Expression Across Stroma- Vitamin D vs. Placebo	61
Figure S.3. Mean TLR5 Expression Across Stroma- Combination vs. Placebo	62
Figure S.4. Mean TLR5 Expression Across Stroma- 2-arm group	62

BACKGROUND/LITERATURE REVIEW

Despite major advances in screening and treatment, colorectal cancer (CRC) remains the third leading cause of death from cancer worldwide, accounting for more than 1.2 million cases and over 600,000 deaths annually in men and women combined (1). The continuing large global burden suggests the need to identify treatable preneoplastic biomarkers of risk. While incidence of CRC varies by geographic region and is highest in developed settings such as North America, Europe, and Australia/New Zealand, regions with historically low rates of CRC, particularly in Asian countries, are now witnessing an increase in risk (2). This has primarily been attributed to shifts in dietary patterns and sedentary behaviors associated with the "westernized lifestyle", which is characterized by higher consumption of red meats and processed foods, high-fat and calorie-ridden foods, obesity, a sedentary lifestyle, and lower consumption of fiber, calcium, and vitamin D (2, 3). This change in trend, accompanied by migration studies showing increasing incidence rates among populations moving from low incidence to high incidence settings, has highlighted the importance of certain diet and environmental exposures in colorectal carcinogenesis along with gene-environment interaction in mitigating risk (1, 4).

Colorectal Carcinogenesis Pathway

The underlying causes of CRC are complex and multifactorial, with both genetic and environmental factors contributing to cancer risk. CRC arises in three predominant forms: inherited, sporadic, and familial (5). Roughly 70% of cases are sporadic, while approximately 25% are familial, and 5-10% are hereditary in nature (6). This is a prime example of a multistage carcinogenesis that develops over many years. Although not

1

proven directly, the 'adenoma-carcinoma sequence' has been supported by various epidemiologic, genetic, and clinical studies to explain the stepwise progression from normal to dysplastic epithelium to carcinoma (7). The first step in the carcinogenesis sequence is thought to be the formation of aberrant crypt foci (ACF) in the normal rectal mucosa. Subsequently, inactivation of the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) tumor suppressor gene activates the Wnt pathway. Progression to early adenoma, advanced adenoma, and carcinoma then generally occurs as a result of activation of mutations in the KRAS gene and additional mutations in PIK3CA, TP53, and TGF-β pathway genes (5). Although almost all CRCs develop from adenomatous polyps, only a small percentage of polyps become malignant, resulting in histological changes and cancer development (8). Because progression of polyps to cancer can take several years to decades, pre-cancerous polyps are ideal targets for screening strategies to reduce CRC risk (9).

Risk Factors for Colorectal Cancer

There are a wide variety of risk factors for CRC, ranging from demographic, environmental, and lifestyle factors to presence of chronic medical conditions (1, 6). Prominent established risk factors include family history, inflammatory bowel disease, tobacco smoking, consumption of alcohol and red and processed meats, obesity, and diabetes (1). Demographic risk factors include age, race, and sex (10). Incidence rates of CRC rise drastically with age, as nearly 90% of cases occur in individuals age 50 or older (10). However, in recent years, incidence of CRC has notably been increasing among younger people, and in the United States, it has become one of the top ten most commonly diagnosed cancers among individuals ages 20-49 (11). Additionally, incidence varies by race, ethnicity, and geographic region, with black men and women having the highest incidence and mortality rates in the United States (12). Consistently, higher incidence rates have been observed in higher income countries as compared to lower income countries, but incidence in lower income countries is rapidly beginning to increase. While incidence ranges from 30 or more per 100,000 people in the United States, Europe, and Australia, New Zealand, and Japan, incidence is limited to 5 or fewer per 100,000 in most of Africa and parts of Asia. These vast differences in incidence across geographic regions suggest the striking role of environmental influences in CRC risk (13). Because it is considered an environmental disease, it is thought that a large proportion of cases could theoretically be prevented, and it has been postulated that up to 70% of all cases may be attributable to a western diet characterized by poor diet and a sedentary lifestyle (10, 14). Although the introduction of screening and improvements in treatment have certainly reduced CRC incidence and mortality, their effectiveness has been limited, particularly in developing settings (15, 16). Thus, much research has focused on targeting other modifiable dietary and lifestyle risk factors for CRC (15).

Throughout the past few decades, findings from numerous observational studies and randomized clinical trials have demonstrated associations between multiple dietary factors and risk of colorectal neoplasms. According to a 2017 report from the World Cancer Research Fund, there is strong evidence that consumption of calcium, whole grains, dietary fiber, and dairy products reduces the risk of CRC, while consumption of red and processed meats and alcohol contribute to CRC risk (15, 17). In particular, preclinical experimental studies provide strong support for the role of calcium and vitamin D in inhibiting colorectal carcinogenesis, while the epidemiologic literature suggest that calcium and vitamin D intake are associated with lower CRC risk. Furthermore, clinical trial data suggest that calcium and vitamin D reduce risk of colorectal neoplasms (3). Therefore, calcium and vitamin D have both gained appreciable interest as promising chemopreventive agents against colorectal neoplasms; however, the exact mechanisms through which this occurs are not well understood.

Calcium and Colorectal Carcinogenesis

Calcium is a critical micronutrient that plays an important role in muscular contraction, cellular growth, cell adhesion, and bone formation (13). It is thought to reduce CRC risk by binding with secondary bile acids and free fatty acids formed in the colon, protecting the colonic lumen against their toxic effects (4). Other protective mechanisms of calcium include direct effects on colonic epithelial cells through cell cycle regulating activities such as inhibition of cell proliferation, promotion of cell differentiation and apoptosis, and modulation of CRC cell signaling pathways via the calcium-sensing receptor (3, 15). These mechanisms have been abundantly supported by *in vitro* experimental studies (18, 19). In one animal model study, rodents fed a diet representing Western dietary intake of calcium, phosphate, vitamin D, and fat had higher incidence of hyperplasia and increased proliferation in the colon; however, these effects were reduced when intake of dietary calcium was increased (19).

Numerous observational cohort and case-control studies have supported these plausible mechanisms by examining the association between calcium intake and CRC risk, including a meta-analysis of 60 observational studies with data suggesting that increased intake of calcium may reduce risk of both colon and rectal cancers by up to 45% (4, 20, 21). Additionally, a pooled analysis of ten prospective cohort studies

assessing 534,536 individuals determined that higher consumption of dietary and supplemental calcium was inversely associated with risk of CRC (OR, 0.78; 95% CI, 0.69-0.88) (22).

Randomized controlled trial data have also largely supported this association, as supplemental calcium has been shown to be effective in reducing risk for adenoma recurrence (23-26). Specifically, multiple studies that randomized participants to either calcium carbonate or placebo reported that calcium supplementation was associated with significant, but moderate, reductions in risk of recurrent colorectal adenomas (23, 25). However, interestingly, in a 2 x 2 factorial trial of calcium and vitamin D, there was no statistically significant effect of calcium on risk of colorectal neoplasms (OR, 0.95; 95% CI, 0.85-1.06), although the authors had no strong explanation for these results (26). In summary, the inverse association between calcium and colorectal adenoma has been consistently observed in observational studies, and randomized controlled trials have largely found that calcium supplementation reduces recurrence of colorectal adenomas. *Vitamin D and Colorectal Carcinogenesis*

Vitamin D is a precursor to the steroid hormone calcitriol, also known as 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D₃ (1,25(OH)₂D₃), and governs many actions throughout the body including regulation of calcium homeostasis and phosphate metabolism, normal mineralization of bone, and gene expression in tissues (27, 28). Dietary vitamin D is available in two forms: vitamin D₂, or ergocalciferol (derived from plant sources), and vitamin D₃, or cholecalciferol (derived from animal sources) (28). Unless fortified, however, most foods contain very little vitamin D, leading most persons to primarily acquire vitamin D through cutaneous synthesis following exposure to ultraviolet B rays (29). Additionally, it is now known that the vitamin D receptor (VDR) and CYP24 are highly expressed in the colon along with many other tissues, where, when activated, vitamin D can modulate more than 200 genes thought to be involved in colorectal carcinogenesis, including cell cycle regulation, growth factor signaling, cell adhesion, protection against oxidative stress, bile acid and xenobiotic metabolism, DNA repair, angiogenesis, and inflammation (15, 30).

The epidemiologic link between vitamin D and colon cancer was first established in 1980 by Garland, who discovered that colon cancer mortality rates varied geographically by exposure to sunlight and hypothesized that vitamin D status may be inversely related with risk of colon cancer (31). Although its potential anti-neoplastic effects were unknown at the time, since then, basic science and preclinical findings have provided strong support for the hypothesis that vitamin D reduces cancer risk. *In vitro* studies have demonstrated that vitamin D inhibits proliferation, induces differentiation, inhibits angiogenesis, and stimulates apoptosis in epithelial tissues (32).

In the epidemiologic literature, Vitamin D has been shown to be associated with lower risk for both colorectal adenoma and cancer. Several meta-analyses assessing serum 25(OH)D concentrations and CRC incidence in prospective cohort studies have been conducted, and all have found a statistically significant inverse association (33-35). A meta-analysis of eight prospective cohort studies (N =1,822 colon and 868 rectal cancers) found a statistically significant inverse association between circulating 25(OH)D levels and CRC risk (OR, 0.66; 95% CI, 0.54-0.81) (34). Additionally, a systematic review of nine prospective cohort studies assessing vitamin D intake and nine studies on blood 25(OH)D levels found pooled risk ratios for CRC of 0.88 (95% CI, 0.80-0.96) and 0.67 (95% CI, 0.54-0.80), respectively (35). Meta-analyses assessing the association between serum 25(OH)D levels and colorectal adenoma in both observational studies and randomized trials have consistently shown a statistically significant inverse association for adenoma incidence, but not recurrence (33, 36, 37). This data suggest that increased vitamin D intake may reduce risk of incident colorectal adenomas but, once removed, may not prevent formation of another adenoma. To date, the few large randomized controlled trials that have been conducted have found that vitamin D supplementation does not significantly reduce the risk for colorectal adenoma or cancer; however, many of these studies were limited by factors such as small sample size, low dose, timing of supplementation, and short follow-up time (38-41). The Women's Health Initiative randomized 36,282 women to 1000 mg of calcium and 400 IU vitamin D3 vs. placebo, but they found that daily supplementation over seven years had no significant effect on risk of incident CRC among post-menopausal women (41). Another study conducted in the United Kingdom randomized 2686 people to 100,000 IU/d oral vitamin D_3 or placebo every four months for five years, but no reduction in risk of CRC incidence or mortality was observed (40). Thus, while preclinical findings and observational studies have clearly supported an inverse association between vitamin D intake and risk of colorectal adenoma or cancer, the clinical trial data have been inconsistent and may require further research.

Synergism/Antagonism of Calcium and vitamin D

Several previous studies have suggested that calcium and vitamin D may modify each other's activity in affecting risk for CRC (42-44). Mouse models have shown that vitamin D and calcium both, individually and synergistically, have an inhibitory effect on the development of polyps (28). Furthermore, evidence from both observational and large randomized controlled trials propose a possible synergistic effect of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on risk of recurrent colorectal adenoma (45). The Calcium Polyp Prevention Study showed that calcium supplementation can reduce the recurrence of colon polyps, but the magnitude of effect relies on serum vitamin D levels (46). That is, the association between calcium intake and colorectal neoplasms may be limited to those with high vitamin D intake. However, other studies suggest a possible antagonistic effect of calcium and vitamin D; one animal study determined that calcium and vitamin D served as better inhibitors of colorectal carcinogenesis separately rather than combined (47). There is a need to better understand the magnitude and implications of the potential synergistic or antagonistic effects that calcium and vitamin D may have on risk of colorectal adenoma and cancer.

Inflammation, Gut Microbiome, TLR5, and Colorectal Carcinogenesis

While inflammation is well known to be linked to CRC progression, the molecular mechanisms by which this occurs are not fully understood (48). Studies show that immune cells, cytokines, and other immune mediators play important roles in nearly every step of the colorectal carcinogenesis sequence, including initiation, promotion, progression, and metastasis (49). Furthermore, increasing evidence supports the role of the gut microbiota in CRC (50). Biologic plausibility for the role of the gut microbiota has been established by the large presence of microbes in the large intestine as well as the known importance of gut microbiota in maintaining gut barrier integrity and promoting immune homeostasis in the colon (50). Subtle inflammation may contribute to the conversion from a healthy to dysplastic colon, leading to epithelium barrier disruption,

bacterial translocation, and activation of immune signaling pathways by bacterial stimuli, ultimately resulting in the production of a pro-neoplastic environment (51). In summary, disruption of the normal intestinal microbiota may lead to a chronic inflammatory state, contributing to carcinogenic metabolite production and possibly neoplasia (52). However, it is not yet clear whether aberrations in commensal microbial communities are the cause or consequence of inflammation (53).

Due to vastly different gut microbial structures between populations consuming different diets, it is thought that the gut microbiota may modulate dietary associations with CRC risk and vice versa (50). Controlled diet intervention studies have shown that changes in dietary composition result in rapid alterations in the gut microbiota (54, 55). This is also well exemplified by the case of rural Africans, who consume diets rich in fiber and low in fat, and have strikingly different gut microbial compositions from African Americans and Europeans who consume a western diet. Interestingly, these differences in microbial composition align with the lower rates of CRC seen in African versus western countries (56, 57). Furthermore, researchers have identified multiple microbial groups that are associated with CRC that may account for differences in healthy and disease gut microbiomes, including significantly higher populations of the groups *Bacteroides* and *Prevotella* and genera *Enterococcus, Escherichia/Shigella, Klebsiella, Streptococcus*, and *Peptostreptococcus* in CRC patients (58-60).

One of the aims of the research group is to determine potential pre-neoplastic biomarkers of risk for colorectal neoplasms. Toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5) is one such potential biomarker. TLR5 is an innate immune sensor for flagellin, the structural component of bacterial flagella that stimulate host defenses. Because alterations in gut microbial composition may lead to additional recognition of bacterial stimuli (61), by recognizing pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as flagellin, TLR5 plays an important role in regulating the innate immune response to microbial agents. TLR5 acts via the MYD88 pathway, leading to NF-kB activation and secretion of cytokines, chemokines, and anti-microbial peptides that help establish a tightly regulated inflammatory state (48, 53). One research group has shown that the colorectal carcinogenesis sequence was accompanied with a rise in Toll-like receptors (62). Furthermore, recent studies suggest that dysregulated TLR signaling may trigger proinflammatory responses contributing to the development of CRC; however, the molecular mechanism remains poorly understood (63). Studies have shown that SNPs in the TLR5 gene are associated with the survival of CRC patients and other clinic-pathological measures (64). Specifically, the TLR5 variants rs5744174 and rs2072493 are associated with changes in the sensing of flagellin and impact secretion of IL-1 β and IL-6, both of which play essential roles in colorectal carcinogenesis (64, 65). Thus, perturbations in TLR5 signaling may modify the intestinal inflammatory state and either promote or inhibit colorectal carcinogenesis.

Effect of Calcium and Vitamin D on TLR5 Expression

While the interplay between calcium, vitamin D, and TLR5 expression in CRC has not been explicitly studied, multiple *in vitro* studies have shown a link between these nutrients and Toll-like receptors, particularly through inactivation of the NF-kB pathway. *In vitro* studies suggest that the anti-inflammatory effects of Vitamin D3 may be mediated by inhibition of the nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathways (66, 67). Furthermore, studies have shown inverse

associations between 25(OH)D levels and expression of TLRs, particularly in diseases characterized by inflammation, such as Type I Diabetes and Behçet's disease (66). These observations have given rise to the hypothesis that optimal vitamin D levels may reduce inflammation. Calcium is hypothesized to exert its anti-neoplastic effects by binding free fatty acids and bile acids in the colon; when unbound, bile acids are metabolized by the gut microbiome, producing secondary bile acids that may promote colorectal carcinogenesis via interaction with nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX2)/prostaglandin 401 synthase-2 pathways (15). While the mechanisms are currently unclear, there is great potential that calcium and vitamin D may have an effect on TLR5 expression, and TLR5 may serve as a pre-neoplastic biomarker of risk for colorectal adenoma and cancer.

Significance of the Stroma

Although clinical practice predominantly focuses on the epithelial cells, there is growing evidence that the tumor microenvironment, including the hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic stromal cells of the colon ("immune stroma"), plays a major role in CRC progression and metastasis through immune responses and initiation of inflammation (68, 69). Furthermore, its proximity to the colonic lumen may also increase exposure to harmful bacterial products. Thus, it is becoming increasingly important to study biomarkers of CRC risk in the stroma. Prior studies have shown that TLR5 is expressed by stromal immune cells, providing rationale for investigating its expression in relation to inflammation and colorectal carcinogenesis (70). Currently, no studies have examined the effect of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on expression of TLR5 in the stroma; therefore, this study will aim to further explore the hypothesized relationship by assessing the effect of vitamin D and calcium supplementation on TLR5 expression in the stroma of the normal rectal mucosa of colorectal adenoma patients.

METHODS

Research Aims

- To assess the effect of Vitamin D and calcium supplementation (alone and in combination) on TLR5 expression in the stroma of normal rectal mucosa;
- 2) In a cross-sectional analysis, to assess the association of TLR5 expression in the stroma of normal rectal mucosa at baseline with demographic and lifestyle characteristics chosen *a priori* due to biologic plausibility and their association with CRC risk

Hypothesis

We hypothesize that vitamin D and calcium supplementation (alone and in combination) over one year will reduce TLR5 expression in the stroma of normal rectal mucosa of colorectal adenoma patients.

Clinical Trial Protocol

Data for this study ("adjunct biomarker study") was obtained from 105 study participants who were participating in a larger 11-center randomized, placebo-controlled, partial 2 x 2 factorial chemoprevention clinical trial ("parent study"; Vitamin D/Calcium Polyp Prevention Study) assessing the effect of supplemental calcium and Vitamin D, alone and in combination, over 3-5 years on adenoma recurrence in colorectal adenoma patients (26). The parent study protocol, in addition to inclusion and exclusion criteria, has been published elsewhere (26).

The complete study protocol for the adjunct biomarker study has also been previously published (71). Patients were eligible to participate in the biomarker study if they visited two of the eleven clinical centers (South Carolina and Georgia) between May 2004 and July 2008 and agreed to provide rectal biopsy tissue samples at baseline and after one year of supplementation with the assigned study agent. Out of 231 eligible participants, 109 met final eligibility criteria, signed consent, and had rectal biopsy tissue samples taken at baseline. Of these, rectal biopsy tissue samples sufficient for biomarker measurement at baseline and 1-year follow-up were available for 105 participants. All participants signed a consent form at enrollment, and the research was approved by the Institutional Review Board at both clinical centers.

At enrollment in the parent study, information was collected from each study participant on medical history, medication and nutritional supplement use, lifestyle, and diet, assessed using the Block Brief 2000 food frequency questionnaire (Nutritionquest, Berkeley, CA). Blood levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] were obtained at both baseline and year 1 follow-up; meanwhile, calcium and 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D [1,25(OH)2D] levels were only obtained at baseline.

Participants were randomized to one of four treatment groups following the placebo run-in period: placebo, 1200 mg/d calcium supplementation (calcium carbonate in equal doses twice daily), 1000 IU/d vitamin D₃ supplementation (500 IU twice daily), and 1200 mg/d elemental calcium plus 100 IU/d vitamin D₃ supplementation ("full factorial randomization"). Women who did not forego calcium supplementation were randomized to calcium or calcium plus vitamin D₃ through 2-arm randomization. Randomization was conducted using computer-generated random numbers with permuted blocks, and were stratified by sex, clinic center, scheduled colonoscopic follow-up of 3 or 5 years, and 4- versus 2-arm randomization. All study staff and participants were blinded to treatment assignments. Participants agreed not to take vitamin D or calcium

supplements outside of their treatment groups, although personal supplements of up to 1,000 IU vitamin D and/or 400 mg elemental calcium were allowed beginning in April 2008. Bottles of study tablets were mailed to participants every four months. Interviews were conducted via telephone every six months to assess participant adherence to their assigned treatment, illnesses, use of medicines or supplements, and any colorectal endoscopic or surgical procedures.

Rectal Biopsy Tissue Collection and Quantification of TLR5

Biopsies of normal-appearing rectal mucosa were taken at baseline and one-year follow-up without preceding bowel-cleansing preparation or procedure. TLR5 expression in the stroma/ immune cells in 105 rectal mucosa biopsies was measured at baseline and 1 year follow-up using standardized, automated immunohistochemistry and quantitative image analysis. The rectal biopsy and immunohistochemistry protocol has also been previously published (71). Five slides with three levels of 3 µm-thick biopsy sections taken 40 µm apart were prepared and placed in a preheated Pretreatment Module (Lab Vision Corp., Fremont, CA) with 100x Citrate Buffer pH 6.0 (DAKO S1699, DAKO Corp., Carpinteria, CA) and steamed for 40 minutes. They were then placed in a DakoCytomation Autostainer Plus System automated immunostainer and processed using a labeled streptavidin-biotin method (LSAB2 Detection System [DAKO K0675]) for TLR5 by applying a rabbit polyclonal antibody against TLR5 (catalog no.: MAB6704, dilution 1:200; R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN). Baseline and follow-up biopsy slides for each participant were stained in the same batch, and each batch included an equal distribution of participants from each treatment group along with positive and negative controls.

A quantitative image analysis method ("scoring") was used to measure levels of TLR5 in both the colon crypts and stroma surrounding colon crypts in each sample. First, the slides were scanned using the Aperio Scanscope CS digital scanner (3DHISTECH, Budapest, Hungary); subsequently, the baseline and follow-up digital images for all 105 participants were reviewed in a custom-developed software, the CellularEyes program (DivEyes LLC, Atlanta, GA), by a trained technician to identify colon crypts that were acceptable for analysis. "Scorable" crypts were defined as intact crypts extending from the muscularis mucosa to the colon lumen. To score a selected hemicrypt (half of a crypt), the technician used a digital drawing board to trace its outline. The CellularEyes program then divided the outline into equally spaced segments with the average width of normal colonocytes and measured the background-corrected optical density of the biomarker labeling across the entire hemicrypt and in each segment. The obtained data was automatically transferred from the software to the MySQL database (Sun Microsystems Inc., Redwood Shores, CA). This process was continued until a total of 8 to 40 hemicrypts had been scored for each baseline and follow-up visit. If possible, both hemicrypts within a scorable crypt were scored.

To score the stromal region between two scorable crypts, hereby referred to as "stromal region", a second technician would identify previously scored crypts and inspect it to see if the width of the lamina propria region surrounding the hemicrypt was wide enough for scoring. If deemed appropriate, the technician would outline the region, avoiding epithelial cells, muscle tissue, and staining artifacts (**Figure 1**). The technician would continue this process until, if possible, a minimum of eight stromal regions were scored for each patient at each visit.

To determine intra-reader scoring reliability, reliability control samples previously analyzed by the technician were re-analyzed. The intra-class correlation coefficient for TLR5 in the stroma was 0.96.

Statistical Analysis

The treatment groups were assessed for similarity in baseline characteristics including demographic information, medical history, habits, anthropometrics, and dietary intakes at baseline and follow-up using χ^2 tests for categorical variables and ANOVA or t-tests for continuous variables. Treatment effects were determined by assessing the differences in TLR5 expression from baseline to 1-year follow-up between participants in the treatment group of interest and appropriate comparison group using a general MIXED linear model. The model included the intercept, visit (baseline and 1-year follow-up), treatment group, and a treatment-by-visit interaction term. First, we assessed changes in TLR5 expression in the stroma by treatment assignment, where the 4-arm group received (i) calcium vs. placebo, (ii) vitamin D vs. placebo, or (iii) calcium + vitamin D vs. placebo and the 2-arm group received vitamin D vs. placebo. Next, we assessed changes in TLR5 expression in the stroma after randomization to treatment groups that received (i) vitamin D relative to those that did not ("vitamin D vs. no vitamin D"), (ii) calcium relative to those that did not ("calcium vs. no calcium"), and (iii) calcium plus vitamin D relative to those that received only calcium ("calcium + vitamin D vs. calcium"). In addition to assessing changes in biomarker expression in the whole stromal region, we also assessed changes within the upper 40% and lower 60% of the stroma. The upper 40% is normally considered the differentiation zone in the crypt but was selected in the stroma due to its proximity to the colon lumen and hence, higher exposure to flagellin

and other bacterial products. In conjunction, the lower 60% of the stromal region, normally considered the proliferation zone of crypts, and the ratio of the upper 40% of the stromal region to the whole stromal region (ϕ h) were also assessed. To better explain the magnitude of the estimated treatment effects, relative and absolute treatment effects were calculated using the following formulas: relative effect = [(treatment group at follow-up)/ (treatment group at baseline)]/ [(comparison group at follow-up)/ (comparison group at baseline)]; absolute effect = [(treatment group follow-up)-(treatment group baseline)]–[(control group follow-up)-(control group baseline)]. For example, a relative effect of 1.4 would signify a 40% increase in TLR5 biomarker expression in the treatment group relative to the control group. Through all analyses, participants were retained in their original assigned treatment group, regardless of adherence to study treatment and procedures.

Potential confounders, identified through differences in baseline characteristics by treatment group or from participant inclusion in the adjunct biomarker study, were assessed by running one additional model. The first model controlled for age, sex, and study center, while the second model additionally controlled for current smoking status (current and former vs. never), multivitamin use (yes vs. no), physical activity (MET-min/week), dietary fiber (g/day), and total caloric intake (kcal/day). However, because adjustment for these potential confounders did not substantially affect the estimated treatment effects, only the results from model 1 are reported.

Exploratory stratified analyses were conducted to assess potential treatment effect modification by baseline characteristics such as regular NSAID and/or aspirin use and baseline total calcium intake, and blood 25(OH)D. We also examined if patients'

characteristics, chosen *a priori* due to biologic plausibility, were associated with baseline expression of TLR5 in the stroma through a generalized linear model adjusted for age, sex (by study arm), study center, and batch. All statistical analyses were conducted using SAS 9.4 statistical software (Cary, NC), and a two-sided p-value of ≤ 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics of Study Participants

Selected baseline characteristics of the 105 study participants are presented in **Table 1**. The mean age across all treatment groups was 59 years, 47% of study participants were male, and 79% were white. Most participants were at least high school graduates, overweight (79%), and not currently smokers (92%). 8.9% of study participants had a family history of CRC. At baseline, there were significant differences in physical activity (P = 0.03) and dietary fiber intake (P = 0.04) across treatment groups. During the first year after randomization, 76% of participants reported taking 80% or more of their assigned study tablets. There was a mean increase in serum 25(OH)D levels 9.0 (SD = 1.6; P = 0.03) ng/ml at year 1 in subjects randomized to vitamin D compared to those who were not.

TLR5 Expression by Treatment Assignment and Agent

The effect of one year of calcium and vitamin D supplementation, alone and in combination, on TLR5 expression by treatment assignment is shown in **Table 2**. In the 4- arm group, treatment with calcium *versus* placebo decreased TLR5 expression in the stromal region by an estimated 13% (P = 0.77). A similar decrease was noted in the upper 40% (23%, P = 0.59), whereas there was an increase in expression in the lower 60% (19%, P = 0.77) of the stroma. For vitamin D *versus* placebo, TLR5 expression increased by 52% (P = 0.37). Likewise, increases in expression were observed in the upper 40% and lower 60% of the stroma (27% (P = 0.61) and 170% (P = 0.10), respectively). There was no significant effect on TLR5 expression for calcium and vitamin D *versus* placebo (P = 0.99). Finally, there was a significant effect of treatment with vitamin D on the ratio

of the upper 40% of the stromal region to the whole stromal region (ϕ h) (P = 0.01). In the 2-arm group, among women who declined to forego calcium supplementation, treatment with vitamin D *versus* placebo resulted in an increase in TLR5 expression in the stromal region by an estimated 36% (P = 0.43). Similar results were found for changes in TLR5 expression in the upper 40% and lower 60% of the stroma. To better describe how TLR5 expression varied across the stroma, we graphed the distribution of mean TLR5 biomarker density across the stroma in calcium vs. placebo, vitamin D vs. placebo, calcium and vitamin D vs. placebo, and the 2-arm vitamin D vs. placebo groups (**Figures S.1-S.4**).

The effect of one year of calcium and vitamin D supplementation, alone and in combination, on TLR5 expression by treatment agent is shown in **Table 3**. After one year of treatment with the study agent, neither calcium nor vitamin D, alone or in combination, significantly affected expression of TLR5 in the stroma of normal-appearing rectal mucosa.

Treatment with calcium *versus* no calcium decreased TLR5 expression by an estimated 27% in the stromal region (P = 0.31). Similar decreases were observed in the upper 40% and lower 60% of the stroma (27% (P = 0.30) and 31% (P = 0.37), respectively). For vitamin D *versus* no vitamin D, TLR5 expression increased by an estimated 32% in the stromal region (P = 0.24). Similar increases in expression were noted in the upper 40% (28%, P = 0.30) and lower 60% (58%, P = 0.12) of the stroma. Treatment with both calcium and vitamin D *versus* calcium increased TLR5 expression by an estimated 23% (P = 0.47). An increase in TLR5 expression of 26% (P = 0.42) was observed in the upper 40% of the stroma, while an increase of 29% (P = 0.48) was

observed in the lower 60% of stroma. There were no significant effects of combined treatment with calcium and vitamin D on the ratio of the upper 40% of the stromal region to the whole stromal region (ϕ h) (P = 0.78). Non-significant treatment effects on ϕ h were also observed for calcium *versus* no calcium (P = 0.90) and vitamin D *versus* no vitamin D (P = 0.36).

Stratified Analyses

We conducted secondary analyses to assess potential treatment effect modification by baseline characteristics such as regular NSAID and/or aspirin use, baseline vitamin D intake, and baseline calcium intake (Tables 4-7). In the stratified analyses by frequency of NSAID use, there was no statistically significant evidence of interaction for treatment effects of calcium, vitamin D, or calcium plus vitamin D (all P >0.19) (**Table 4**). When the treatment groups were stratified by frequency of aspirin use, there were no statistically significant differences in treatment effects of calcium, vitamin D, or calcium plus vitamin D; however, the data suggest that calcium supplementation was more effective in non-aspirin users (-57%, P = 0.08). (Table 5). We also performed a stratified analysis by baseline serum vitamin D intake (Table 6). Although no statistically significant interaction was observed ($P_{\text{interaction}} = 0.65$), among study participants with below median baseline serum vitamin D levels, treatment with vitamin D versus no vitamin D increased TLR5 expression in the stromal region by 87% (P = 0.08); among study participants with above median serum vitamin D levels, however, TLR5 expression was largely unaffected (P = 0.85), suggesting that participants below median intake were not achieving an optimal amount of vitamin D. Finally, we stratified the study population by baseline total calcium intake (Table 7). While there was no evidence of statistically

significant interaction ($P_{interaction} = 0.59$), we found that, among those who had below median total calcium intake, treatment with vitamin D *versus* no vitamin D increased TLR5 expression in the stromal region by 62% (P = 0.16); among those with above median total calcium intake, however, TLR5 stromal expression was not affected (P = 0.88). Stratified comparisons of TLR5 stromal expression by sex-specific total calcium intake are available in **Table S.1**.

TLR5 Expression by Baseline Characteristics

We also examined if participant characteristics, chosen *a priori* due to biologic plausibility and their association with CRC risk, were associated with baseline expression of TLR5 in the stroma through a cross-sectional analysis. The associations between these selected baseline characteristics and baseline TLR5 expression in the whole stromal region are shown in **Table 8**. Data for TLR5 expression in the upper 40%, lower 60%, and ratio of the upper 40% of the stromal region to the whole stromal region (ϕ h) are available in the supplementary tables (Tables S.2-S.4). On average, although not statistically significant, women had 14% lower TLR5 expression in the stromal region relative to men (P = 0.57). There was no significant association of baseline TLR5 stroma expression with age (P = 0.80). Furthermore, on average, white study participants had 46% lower TLR5 expression in the whole stromal region (P = 0.01), regular NSAID use was associated with 14% lower expression of TLR5 stroma (P = 0.45), and regular aspirin use was associated with 4% lower expression (P = 0.84). High physical activity was associated with 27% lower expression of TLR5 in the stroma (P = 0.14). Study participants who were overweight $(25-30 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ had 35% higher expression of TLR5 in the stroma, and obese participants (> 30 kg/m^2) had 4% higher expression compared to

those who were of normal weight (<25 kg/ m²) ($P_{trend} = 0.52$). Baseline TLR5 expression in the stroma was 49% higher among those who had a history of sessile serrated adenoma (P = 0.06). Achieving the daily recommended dietary fiber intake (≥ 14 g/1000 kcal per day) was associated with 5.3% lower expression of TLR5 (P = 0.83), while achieving the daily recommended intake of fruits and vegetables (≥ 5 servings/d) was associated with 13% lower baseline expression of TLR5 in the stroma (P = 0.47). Alcohol intake of more than 1 drink per week was associated with 49% higher TLR5 expression in the stromal region ($P_{trend} = 0.17$). Lastly, study participants in the highest tertile of baseline calcium intake had 36% lower expression of TLR5 in the stroma relative to those in the lowest tertile (P = 0.04).

DISCUSSION

Discussion of Primary Findings

Although not statistically significant, the preliminary results of this pilot study suggest that (i) supplemental vitamin D₃, alone or in combination with calcium, may increase TLR5 expression; and (ii) provide further support for TLR5 expression in the stroma of the normal-appearing rectal mucosa as a modifiable, pre-neoplastic marker of risk for colorectal neoplasms. While our small sample size likely limited our ability to detect statistically significant differences in biomarker expression, we observed relatively large treatment effects in the analysis by treatment agent. Because our small sample size in the placebo group (N=12) may have led to unstable estimates of the treatment effect by treatment assignment, our analysis was primarily focused on the effect on TLR5 expression in the stroma by treatment agent. However, of note, we did observe similar results in our analysis by treatment assignment.

Multiple calcium and vitamin D supplementation trials have been conducted previously, but to our knowledge, this is the first study to measure TLR5 biomarker expression in the colon tissue following supplementation. While the inverse association of both calcium intake and blood levels of vitamin D with risk of colorectal adenoma and cancer has been extensively shown in the epidemiologic literature (4, 20-22, 33-35), the human clinical trial evidence has been largely inconsistent, especially for vitamin D. This lack of consensus may stem from the fact that the current human data comes from clinical trials limited by small sample size, short follow-up time, and inconsistent dosing and routes of administration for supplemental calcium and vitamin D. Furthermore, studies have only assessed the effect of calcium and vitamin D on serum inflammatory markers,

which may not accurately represent the localized inflammatory activity in the tissue of the colon. Because inflammation has been shown to be a key risk factor in CRC progression, and the cell cycle regulation activities of calcium and anti-inflammatory properties of vitamin D have been well documented, both separately and combined, in multiple experimental studies, it was hypothesized that supplementation with both potential chemopreventive agents would decrease expression of the pro-inflammatory biomarker TLR5 in the stroma of normal-appearing rectal mucosa (28). While our results do not statistically support this primary hypothesis, in the analysis by treatment agent, we found that supplementation with calcium relative to no calcium decreased TLR5 expression by 23% and supplementation with vitamin D relative to no vitamin D increased TLR5 expression by 32%. Furthermore, we found that supplementation with calcium and vitamin D relative to calcium only increased TLR5 stroma expression by 23%, suggesting a potential antagonistic effect of calcium and vitamin D in combination. This is further supported by the results of the stratified analyses, where consistently, supplementation with vitamin D and calcium in combination resulted in TLR5 expression that was higher than supplementation with calcium but lower than supplementation with vitamin D.

Factors Associated with TLR5 Expression

We also examined the cross-sectional association of *a priori* selected patient characteristics with TLR5 expression at baseline. Our results suggest that women had lower, albeit not statistically significant, TLR5 expression at baseline relative to men. Female sex hormones have been hypothesized to have a protective immunological effect on inflammatory responses, and progression of CRC has been linked to estrogen receptors in the rectal mucosa (72). These findings may also be explained by the accumulating evidence indicating that sex-specific alterations in the gut microbiota may drive differences in intestinal inflammatory diseases (73).

In our population, we found that compared to those who were non-white, white participants had statistically significantly lower baseline TLR5 expression. Racial disparities have been well observed in observational studies of CRC, with incidence, aggressiveness, and mortality higher among African-Americans (12). While the biological causes of this discrepancy remain to be elucidated, multiple studies have examined racial disparities in differential gene expression and microbial composition and how they correspond to CRC risk. One such study compared gene expression profiles of tumors from African Americans and European Americans and found that three of the six differentially expressed genes and their pathways were related to immune and inflammatory response, suggesting that differential gene expression and inflammation may underlie racial disparities in CRC (74).

High physical activity, defined as more than 3,306 met-min/week for men and more than 2,106 met-min/week for women, was associated with lower TLR5 expression at baseline. The link between physical activity and CRC has been extensively shown in the literature, with some studies suggesting that individuals with low physical activity have a 27% increased risk of CRC (75). These associations are supported by plausible biological mechanisms including influencing inflammation-stimulated cell growth. Emerging evidence further suggests that the association with CRC progression may be mediated through modulation of energy metabolism and inflammatory pathways (76).

Overall, BMI was associated with increased expression of TLR5 at baseline, a finding that aligns with a large and continuously growing body of literature. Obesity is considered a chronic state of inflammation, characterized by the release of free fatty acids, pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-8, IL-6, or IL-2, and polypeptide growth factors from obese adipose tissue (77-79). Dysregulated release of these factors subsequently contributes to malignant transformation, tumor initiation, and CRC progression (77, 79). In obese individuals, overproduction of leptin, a hormone that helps regulate appetite and body weight, has been found to promote cell motility and invasiveness in colon cancer through activation of multiple signal-transduction pathways (80). In vitro models simulating leptin overproduction have shown increased proliferation of CRC cell lines, angiogenesis, TLR5 signaling, and pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6 (79, 81). These findings may also be explained by diet-driven differences in the gut microbiome of obese and normal weight individuals. Recent mouse model studies have found that both genetic and diet-induced obesity disrupt gut homeostasis and alter abundance of flagellated bacterial species such as *E.coli*, promoting intestinal inflammation and colorectal tumorigenesis (82). While the exact mechanisms through which this occurs require further study, our results support the link between obesity, inflammation, and colorectal carcinogenesis.

We also found that, relative to no alcohol consumption, alcohol intake of more than 1 drink per week was associated with 49% higher TLR5 expression in the stroma. Although the mechanisms through which alcohol consumption promotes colorectal carcinogenesis remains unclear, these findings may be explained by mucosal inflammation in the intestine. Oxidative stress derived from ethanol metabolism may increase intestinal permeability and exposure to microbial byproducts, leading to the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6 (83).

High baseline calcium intake was statistically significantly associated with lower TLR5 expression in the stroma, aligning with our main findings that supplementation with calcium *versus* no calcium decreased TLR5 expression. Calcium is hypothesized to exert its anti-neoplastic effects by binding free fatty acids and bile acids in the colon, inhibiting the production of secondary bile acids that promote colorectal carcinogenesis via inflammatory signaling pathways such as NF-kB (15). Thus, these results add support for our hypothesis that, although the mechanism remains to be fully elucidated, there may be an association between calcium and the pro-inflammatory biomarker TLR5.

Finally, compared to patients with no history of serrated adenomas, patients with previously removed serrated adenomas had 49% higher baseline expression of TLR5 in the stroma. Sessile serrated adenomas are considered precursor lesions to CRC, characterized by mutations of the BRAF gene and higher susceptibility to hypermethylation (84). These mutations have been implicated as key events in colorectal carcinogenesis through activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway, which has been shown to modulate TLR5 signaling (85) and contribute to increased proliferation and decreased apoptosis (86, 87).

Overall, our findings from the analysis of participant characteristics and baseline biomarker expression suggest that some modifiable risk factors may influence inflammatory pathways contributing to colorectal carcinogenesis.

Strengths and Limitations

This study had several strengths and limitations. The major strengths include high protocol adherence by study participants, the automated immunostaining and novel image analysis software to quantify crypt biomarker distribution, and the resulting high biomarker measurement reliability. Additionally, to our knowledge, this adjunct biomarker study is the first randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to report on the effect of calcium and vitamin D supplementation, alone and in combination, on TLR5 expression in the stroma of normal colorectal tissue. The main limitation of this study is the small sample size, as we may have lacked sufficient power to detect small differences in TLR5 expression across treatment groups and to conduct subgroup analyses. Because we only measured biomarker expression in the rectal mucosa, the treatment effects of calcium and vitamin D on other parts of the colon are unknown. Furthermore, because we were only able to obtain colorectal tissue samples from study participants at baseline and after one year of supplementation, we were not able to assess the long-term effects of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on TLR5 stroma expression. Additionally, it is poorly understood whether calcium and vitamin D may affect pre-cancerous and cancerous tissue in the human colon differently. If calcium and vitamin D only have a treatment effect on neoplastic tissue, this may explain our null findings in a population of individuals with normal colorectal tissue. To better understand the effect of supplementation on biomarker expression throughout the colorectal carcinogenesis sequence, further studies with larger sample sizes, longer supplementation periods, and more extensive follow-up are needed.

Public Health Impact

As previously mentioned, the goal of this study and of the research group is to identify chemopreventive agents that can be used to prevent CRC. Studies have estimated that regular screening can reduce CRC incidence by an estimated 17-54% (88); however, its effectiveness is hindered by limited uptake, as 30-50% of eligible individuals in the United States never begin the screening process (89). Additionally, screening is associated with inconveniences including their invasive nature, cost, and morbidity (90). Thus, much interest has arisen in the research and development of effective chemopreventive treatment agents that would allow for primary prevention. While chemoprevention would never replace traditional screening strategies such as colonoscopy, it could greatly enhance screening strategies by targeting missed lesions, decreasing the number of adenomas that need to be removed, and inhibiting or slowing the growth of early stage cancers, ultimately reducing the high morbidity and mortality burden currently observed.

A secondary objective of this study was to identify potential treatable preneoplastic biomarkers of risk for colorectal neoplasms. Although tissue and blood-based biomarker tests would never replace colonoscopies, they could help physicians screen many more patients at risk. That is, biomarker tests could be used to distinguish between those who are at higher risk and require more invasive screening or those who could wait longer intervals between screenings, reducing the burden for practicing physicians while enhancing the health of the population. Last, because adenomatous polyps and colorectal adenomas are precursors to CRC and can be detected up to decades earlier, there is great potential to identify cases early in the cancer progression sequence, reducing utilization of resources and economic burden on the healthcare system.

Conclusion and Future Directions

In conclusion, although not statistically significant, the preliminary results of this pilot study suggest that (i) supplemental vitamin D₃, alone or in combination with calcium, may increase TLR5 expression; and (ii) provide further support for TLR5 expression in the stroma of the normal-appearing rectal mucosa as a modifiable, preneoplastic marker of risk for colorectal neoplasms. Our analysis of patient characteristics and biomarker expression at baseline suggest that multiple modifiable risk factors are associated with expression of the pro-inflammatory biomarker TLR5 at baseline. Given that our study was mainly limited by small sample size, further studies with larger sample sizes, longer supplementation periods, and more extensive follow-up may be needed to detect differences in expression. These initial findings are promising and support the continued investigation of modifiable risk factors that may influence inflammatory pathways related to colorectal carcinogenesis.

REFERENCES

- Brenner H, Kloor M, Pox CP. Colorectal cancer. *The Lancet* 2014;383(9927):1490-502.
- Marley A, Nan H. Epidemiology of colorectal cancer. *Int J Mol Epidemiol Genet* 2016;7(3):105-14.
- Lamprecht SA, Lipkin M. Chemoprevention of colon cancer by calcium, vitamin D and folate: molecular mechanisms. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2003;3(8):601-14.
- Huncharek M, Muscat J, Kupelnick B. Colorectal cancer risk and dietary intake of calcium, vitamin D, and dairy products: a meta-analysis of 26,335 cases from 60 observational studies. *Nutrition and cancer* 2009;61(1):47-69.
- Roper J, Hung KE. Molecular Mechanisms of Colorectal Carcinogenesis. Molecular Pathogenesis of Colorectal Cancer, 2013:25-65.
- Weitz J, Koch M, Debus J, et al. Colorectal cancer. *Lancet (London, England)* 2005;365(9454):153-65.
- Leslie A, Carey FA, Pratt NR, et al. The colorectal adenoma-carcinoma sequence. *The British journal of surgery* 2002;89(7):845-60.
- Simon K. Colorectal cancer development and advances in screening. *Clinical Interventions in Aging* 2016;11:967-76.
- 9. Stracci F, Zorzi M, Grazzini G. Colorectal cancer screening: tests, strategies, and perspectives. *Frontiers in public health* 2014;2:210.
- 10. Haggar FA, Boushey RP. Colorectal cancer epidemiology: incidence, mortality, survival, and risk factors. *Clinics in colon and rectal surgery* 2009;22(4):191-7.

- Fairley TL, Cardinez CJ, Martin J, et al. Colorectal cancer in U.S. adults younger than 50 years of age, 1998-2001. *Cancer* 2006;107(5 Suppl):1153-61.
- Goyal S, Nangia-Makker P, Farhana L, et al. Racial disparity in colorectal cancer: Gut microbiome and cancer stem cells. *World Journal of Stem Cells* 2016;8(9):279-87.
- Zhang X, Giovannucci E. Calcium, vitamin D and colorectal cancer chemoprevention. *Best practice & research Clinical gastroenterology* 2011;25(4-5):485-94.
- 14. Willett WC. Diet and cancer: an evolving picture. *Jama* 2005;293(2):233-4.
- 15. Song M, Garrett WS, Chan AT. Nutrients, foods, and colorectal cancer prevention. *Gastroenterology* 2015;148(6):1244-60 e16.
- Siegel R, Desantis C, Jemal A. Colorectal cancer statistics, 2014. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians* 2014;64(2):104-17.
- World Cancer Research Fund International/American Institute for Cancer Research. Continuous Update Project Report: Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Colorectal Cancer. 2017. Available at: wcrf.org/colorectal-cancer-2017.
- 18. McSherry CK, Cohen BI, Bokkenheuser VD, et al. Effects of calcium and bile acid feeding on colon tumors in the rat. *Cancer research* 1989;49(21):6039-43.
- Newmark HL, Lipkin M. Calcium, vitamin D, and colon cancer. *Cancer research* 1992;52(7 Suppl):2067s-70s.
- Keum N, Aune D, Greenwood DC, et al. Calcium intake and colorectal cancer risk: dose-response meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. *Int J Cancer* 2014;135(8):1940-8.

- Zhang X, Keum N, Wu K, et al. Calcium intake and colorectal cancer risk:
 Results from the nurses' health study and health professionals follow-up study. *Int J Cancer* 2016;139(10):2232-42.
- Cho E, Smith-Warner SA, Spiegelman D, et al. Dairy foods, calcium, and colorectal cancer: a pooled analysis of 10 cohort studies. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2004;96(13):1015-22.
- Baron JA, Beach M, Mandel JS, et al. Calcium supplements for the prevention of colorectal adenomas. Calcium Polyp Prevention Study Group. *The New England journal of medicine* 1999;340(2):101-7.
- Bonithon-Kopp C, Kronborg O, Giacosa A, et al. Calcium and fibre supplementation in prevention of colorectal adenoma recurrence: a randomised intervention trial. European Cancer Prevention Organisation Study Group. *Lancet* (London, England) 2000;356(9238):1300-6.
- Chu DZ, Hussey MA, Alberts DS, et al. Colorectal Chemoprevention Pilot Study (SWOG-9041), randomized and placebo controlled: the importance of multiple luminal lesions. *Clinical colorectal cancer* 2011;10(4):310-6.
- Baron JA, Barry EL, Mott LA, et al. A Trial of Calcium and Vitamin D for the Prevention of Colorectal Adenomas. *The New England journal of medicine* 2015;373(16):1519-30.
- 27. Feldman D, Krishnan AV, Swami S, et al. The role of vitamin D in reducing cancer risk and progression. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2014;14(5):342-57.
- 28. Krishnan AV, Feldman D. Mechanisms of the anti-cancer and anti-inflammatory actions of vitamin D. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 2011;51:311-36.

- Bikle DD. Vitamin D Metabolism, Mechanism of Action, and Clinical Applications. *Chemistry & biology* 2014;21(3):319-29.
- Bostick RM. Effects of supplemental vitamin D and calcium on normal colon tissue and circulating biomarkers of risk for colorectal neoplasms. *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology* 2015;148:86-95.
- Garland CF, Garland FC. Do sunlight and vitamin D reduce the likelihood of colon cancer? *Int J Epidemiol* 1980;9(3):227-31.
- Giammanco M, Di Majo D, La Guardia M, et al. Vitamin D in cancer chemoprevention. *Pharmaceutical biology* 2015;53(10):1399-434.
- Jacobs ET, Kohler LN, Kunihiro AG, et al. Vitamin D and Colorectal, Breast, and Prostate Cancers: A Review of the Epidemiological Evidence. *Journal of Cancer* 2016;7(3):232-40.
- 34. Lee JE, Li H, Chan AT, et al. Circulating levels of vitamin D and colon and rectal cancer: the Physicians' Health Study and a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Cancer prevention research (Philadelphia, Pa)* 2011;4(5):735-43.
- 35. Ma Y, Zhang P, Wang F, et al. Association between vitamin D and risk of colorectal cancer: a systematic review of prospective studies. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2011;29(28):3775-82.
- Yin L, Grandi N, Raum E, et al. Meta-analysis: Serum vitamin D and colorectal adenoma risk. *Preventive medicine* 2011;53(1-2):10-6.
- 37. Wei MY, Garland CF, Gorham ED, et al. Vitamin D and prevention of colorectal adenoma: a meta-analysis. *Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a*

publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 2008;17(11):2958-69.

- 38. Avenell A, MacLennan GS, Jenkinson DJ, et al. Long-term follow-up for mortality and cancer in a randomized placebo-controlled trial of vitamin D(3) and/or calcium (RECORD trial). *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism* 2012;97(2):614-22.
- 39. Lappe JM, Travers-Gustafson D, Davies KM, et al. Vitamin D and calcium supplementation reduces cancer risk: results of a randomized trial. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 2007;85(6):1586-91.
- 40. Trivedi DP, Doll R, Khaw KT. Effect of four monthly oral vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) supplementation on fractures and mortality in men and women living in the community: randomised double blind controlled trial. *Bmj* 2003;326(7387):469.
- 41. Wactawski-Wende J, Kotchen JM, Anderson GL, et al. Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and the risk of colorectal cancer. *The New England journal of medicine* 2006;354(7):684-96.
- 42. Jacobs ET, Martinez ME, Alberts DS. Research and public health implications of the intricate relationship between calcium and vitamin D in the prevention of colorectal neoplasia. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 2003;95(23):1736-7.
- 43. Peters U, McGlynn KA, Chatterjee N, et al. Vitamin D, calcium, and vitamin D receptor polymorphism in colorectal adenomas. *Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research,*

cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 2001;10(12):1267-74.

- 44. Zheng W, Anderson KE, Kushi LH, et al. A prospective cohort study of intake of calcium, vitamin D, and other micronutrients in relation to incidence of rectal cancer among postmenopausal women. *Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology* 1998;7(3):221-5.
- 45. Ishihara J, Inoue M, Iwasaki M, et al. Dietary calcium, vitamin D, and the risk of colorectal cancer. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 2008;88(6):1576-83.
- 46. Harris DM, Go VL. Vitamin D and colon carcinogenesis. *J Nutr* 2004;134(12 Suppl):3463s-71s.
- 47. Pence BC, Buddingh F. Inhibition of dietary fat-promoted colon carcinogenesis in rats by supplemental calcium or vitamin D3. *Carcinogenesis* 1988;9(1):187-90.
- Tsan MF. Toll-like receptors, inflammation and cancer. *Semin Cancer Biol* 2006;16(1):32-7.
- 49. Raskov H, Pommergaard HC, Burcharth J, et al. Colorectal carcinogenesis-update and perspectives. *World journal of gastroenterology* 2014;20(48):18151-64.
- Song M, Chan AT. Diet, Gut Microbiota, and Colorectal Cancer Prevention: A Review of Potential Mechanisms and Promising Targets for Future Research. *Current colorectal cancer reports* 2017;13(6):429-39.
- Brennan CA. Gut Microbiota, Inflammation, and Colorectal Cancer.
 2016;70:395-411.

- Sun J, Kato I. Gut microbiota, inflammation and colorectal cancer. *Genes Dis* 2016;3(2):130-43.
- 53. Artis D. Epithelial-cell recognition of commensal bacteria and maintenance of immune homeostasis in the gut. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2008;8(6):411-20.
- 54. David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature* 2014;505(7484):559-63.
- 55. Louis P, Hold GL, Flint HJ. The gut microbiota, bacterial metabolites and colorectal cancer. *Nature reviews Microbiology* 2014;12(10):661-72.
- 56. O'Keefe SJ, Li JV, Lahti L, et al. Fat, fibre and cancer risk in African Americans and rural Africans. *Nature communications* 2015;6:6342.
- 57. Ou J, Carbonero F, Zoetendal EG, et al. Diet, microbiota, and microbial metabolites in colon cancer risk in rural Africans and African Americans. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* 2013;98(1):111-20.
- Rezasoltani S, Asadzadeh-Aghdaei H, Nazemalhosseini-Mojarad E, et al. Gut microbiota, epigenetic modification and colorectal cancer. *Iranian journal of microbiology* 2017;9(2):55-63.
- 59. Sobhani I, Tap J, Roudot-Thoraval F, et al. Microbial dysbiosis in colorectal cancer (CRC) patients. *PLoS One* 2011;6(1):e16393.
- Wang T, Cai G, Qiu Y, et al. Structural segregation of gut microbiota between colorectal cancer patients and healthy volunteers. *The ISME journal* 2012;6(2):320-9.
- 61. Hayashi F, Smith KD, Ozinsky A, et al. The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Toll-like receptor 5. *Nature* 2001;410(6832):1099-103.

- 62. Borges-Canha M, Portela-Cidade JP, Dinis-Ribeiro M, et al. Role of colonic microbiota in colorectal carcinogenesis: a systematic review. *Revista espanola de enfermedades digestivas : organo oficial de la Sociedad Espanola de Patologia Digestiva* 2015;107(11):659-71.
- 63. Abreu MT. Toll-like receptor signalling in the intestinal epithelium: how bacterial recognition shapes intestinal function. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2010;10(2):131-44.
- Weber ANR, Försti A. Toll-like receptor genetic variants and colorectal cancer. Oncoimmunology 2014;3.
- 65. Klimosch SN, Forsti A, Eckert J, et al. Functional TLR5 genetic variants affect human colorectal cancer survival. *Cancer research* 2013;73(24):7232-42.
- Adamczak DM. The Role of Toll-Like Receptors and Vitamin D in Cardiovascular Diseases-A Review. *International journal of molecular sciences* 2017;18(11).
- 67. Ding C, Wilding JP, Bing C. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 protects against macrophage-induced activation of NFkappaB and MAPK signalling and chemokine release in human adipocytes. *PLoS One* 2013;8(4):e61707.
- Tauriello DVF, Batlle E. Targeting the Microenvironment in Advanced Colorectal Cancer. *Trends in cancer* 2016;2(9):495-504.
- Owens BM, Simmons A. Intestinal stromal cells in mucosal immunity and homeostasis. *Mucosal immunology* 2013;6(2):224-34.
- Feng T. Regulation of Toll-like Receptor 5 Gene Expression and Function on Mucosal Dendritic Cells. 2012;7(4).

- 71. Liu S, Barry EL, Baron JA, et al. Effects of supplemental calcium and vitamin D on the APC/beta-catenin pathway in the normal colorectal mucosa of colorectal adenoma patients. *Mol Carcinog* 2017;56(2):412-24.
- 72. Quirt J, Nanji S, Wei X, et al. Is there a sex effect in colon cancer? Disease characteristics, management, and outcomes in routine clinical practice. *Current Oncology* 2017;24(1):e15-23.
- Haro C, Rangel-Zuniga OA, Alcala-Diaz JF, et al. Intestinal Microbiota Is Influenced by Gender and Body Mass Index. *PLoS One* 2016;11(5):e0154090.
- Jovov B, Araujo-Perez F, Sigel CS, et al. Differential gene expression between African American and European American colorectal cancer patients. *PLoS One* 2012;7(1):e30168.
- Golshiri P, Rasooli S, Emami M, et al. Effects of Physical Activity on Risk of Colorectal Cancer: A Case-control Study. *Int J Prev Med* 2016;7:32.
- 76. Van Blarigan EL, Meyerhardt JA. Role of Physical Activity and Diet After Colorectal Cancer Diagnosis. *Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 2015;33(16):1825-34.
- Yehuda-Shnaidman E, Schwartz B. Mechanisms linking obesity, inflammation and altered metabolism to colon carcinogenesis. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 2012;13(12):1083-95.
- 78. Bishehsari F, Mahdavinia M, Vacca M, et al. Epidemiological transition of colorectal cancer in developing countries: Environmental factors, molecular

pathways, and opportunities for prevention. *World journal of gastroenterology* 2014;20(20):6055-72.

- 79. Martinez-Useros J, Garcia-Foncillas J. Obesity and colorectal cancer: molecular features of adipose tissue. *Journal of Translational Medicine* 2016;14.
- Jaffe T, Schwartz B. Leptin promotes motility and invasiveness in human colon cancer cells by activating multiple signal-transduction pathways. *Int J Cancer* 2008;123(11):2543-56.
- Pekkala S, Munukka E, Kong L, et al. Toll-like receptor 5 in obesity: the role of gut microbiota and adipose tissue inflammation. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md)* 2015;23(3):581-90.
- Liu W, Crott JW, Lyu L, et al. Diet- and Genetically-induced Obesity Produces Alterations in the Microbiome, Inflammation and Wnt Pathway in the Intestine of Apc(+/1638N) Mice: Comparisons and Contrasts. *Journal of Cancer* 2016;7(13):1780-90.
- Rossi M, Jahanzaib Anwar M, Usman A, et al. Colorectal Cancer and Alcohol Consumption-Populations to Molecules. *Cancers* 2018;10(2).
- 84. Michalopoulos G, Tzathas C. Serrated polyps of right colon: guilty or innocent? Annals of Gastroenterology : Quarterly Publication of the Hellenic Society of Gastroenterology 2013;26(3):212-9.
- 85. Peroval MY. A Critical Role for MAPK Signalling Pathways in the Transcriptional Regulation of Toll Like Receptors. 2013;8(2).
- Rau TT, Atreya R, Aust D, et al. Inflammatory response in serrated precursor lesions of the colon classified according to WHO entities, clinical parameters and

phenotype–genotype correlation. *The Journal of Pathology: Clinical Research* 2016;2(2):113-24.

- 87. Zeng H, Wu H, Sloane V, et al. Flagellin/TLR5 responses in epithelia reveal intertwined activation of inflammatory and apoptotic pathways. *American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology* 2006;290(1):G96-g108.
- Ladabaum U, Song K. Projected national impact of colorectal cancer screening on clinical and economic outcomes and health services demand. *Gastroenterology* 2005;129(4):1151-62.
- The Lancet G, amp, Hepatology. Improving uptake of colorectal cancer screening.
 The Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology;2(11):767.
- 90. Manzano A, Pérez-Segura P. Colorectal Cancer Chemoprevention: Is This the Future of Colorectal Cancer Prevention? *The Scientific World Journal* 2012;2012:8.

	Rand	lomization to C	alcium and Vit	amin D (4-arm	1)	Randomizatio	Randomization to Vitamin D Only (2-arm)			
Baseline Characteristics	Placebo (n=12)	Calcium (n=16)	Vitamin D (n=17)	Calcium + Vi (n=18)	tamin D <i>p value^b</i>	Placebo (n=23)	Vitamin D (n=19)	p value ^c		
Age, years	59.9 (7.2)	59.9 (6.5)	59.2 (7.8)	58.0 (7.1)	0.86	58.2 (5.3)	59.2 (7.3)	0.60		
Men, %	75.0	81.3	70.6	83.3	0.83	0.0	0.0			
White, %	83.3	75.0	70.6	94.4	0.29	69.6	84.2	0.30		
College graduate ^d , %	66.7	37.5	64.7	55.6	0.37	47.8	36.8	0.54		
1° family history of CRC, %***	0.0	12.5	20.0	5.6	0.37	4.4	11.1	0.57		
Regular ^e non-aspirin NSAID users, %	8.3	18.8	17.7	5.6	0.59	8.7	10.5	0.84		
Regular ^e aspirin users, %	41.7	68.8	29.4	33.3	0.10	21.7	31.6	0.47		
If woman (n=56), HRT users, %	100.0	0.0	20.0	33.3	0.11	21.7	31.6	0.50		
Current smoker, %	25.0	6.3	0.0	5.6	0.10	0	15.8	0.08		
Multivitamin users, %	41.7	81.3	47.1	66.7	0.10	69.57	89.5	0.15		
Physical activity, MET-min/wk ^{f*}	1620 (1195)	2128 (2378)	2782 (2764)	4042 (2456)	0.03	1458 (1235)	3021 (3469)	0.05		
BMI. kg/m^2	29.4 (4.9)	32.3 (7.6)	28.7 (5.5)	30.2 (4.4)	0.31	29.7 (5.6)	27.5 (4.7)	0.18		
Adenomas removed at colonoscopy	1.6 (0.7)	1.6 (1.0)	1.4 (0.8)	1.4 (0.7)	0.70	1.2 (0.7)	1.6 (1.0)	0.11		
Had advanced adenoma, %***	36.4	6.7	23.5	27.8	0.30	9.1	15.8	0.65		
Dietary Intakes										
Total energy intake, kcal/d***	1314 (381)	1737 (556)	1437 (527)	1569 (565)	0.21	1254 (549)	1429 (595)	0.33		
Total fat, g/d ^{***}	57.1 (22.3)	68.9 (25.6)	60.5 (27.3)	61.6 (26.8)	0.69	50.3 (25.9)	61.5 (36.1)	0.25		
Calories from fat. %***	38.9 (8.1)	35.8 (7.0)	37.2 (6.6)	35.2 (8.0)	0.58	35.6 (7.7)	36.0 (8.3)	0.61		
Dietary fiber. g/d***	9.5 (4.1)	15.8 (5.6)	13.7 (6.2)	15.1 (5.7)	0.04	13.8 (5.4)	17.2 (5.0)	0.04		
Red and/or processed meat. servings/d	1.2 (0.9)	1.0 (0.7)	0.9 (0.8)	1.0 (0.7)	0.74	0.6 (0.5)	0.7 (0.6)	0.59		
Fruits and vegetables, servings/d ^{***}	3.0 (1.7)	4.4 (2.0)	4.5 (2.5)	4.3 (1.7)	0.28	4.7 (1.7)	6.0 (2.4)	0.04		
Alcohol intake, drinks/day	0.7 (0.7)	0.8 (1.0)	0.9 (0.9)	0.9 (0.9)	0.95	0.5 (1.0)	0.3 (0.5)	0.42		
Total vitamin D ^g , IU/d	354 (307)	457 (189)	313 (278)	421 (296)	0.48	521 (354)	634 (276)	0.34		
Total calcium, mg/d	641 (284)	863 (284)	663 (272)	656 (251)	0.16	938 (466)	1213 (553)	0.09		
Serum levels	.)	. /	. ,	. /		. ,	. /			
25-OH-vitamin D ₃ , ng/mL	22.4 (8.2)	24.5 (13.4)	23.1 (8.7)	22.7 (6.4)	0.93	24.8 (8.9)	26.5 (9.6)	0.54		
$Ca^{2+}, mg/dL$	9.2 (0.2)	9.3 (0.3)	9.3 (0.3)	9.4 (0.3)	0.25	9.5 (0.3)	9.4 (0.3)	0.52		

^a Data are given as means (SD) unless otherwise specified

^b Chi squared for categorical variables; ANOVA for continuous variables ^c Chi squared for categorical variables; Student t-tests for continuous variables

^d Received a Bachelor's degree or higher

^e At least four times a week

^fMetabolic equivalent of task

^g Dietary vitamin D plus supplemental vitamin D. Missing information for 3 placebo patients, 2 calcium, 2 vitamin D, one combined, 6 placebo (2-arm) and 5 vitamin D (2-arm)

*One patient missing per asterisk

Table 2. Comparison of TLR5 Expression in the Stroma of Normal-Appearing Rectal Mucosa of Study Participants (n=105) by Treatment Assignment ^a												
			Baseline				1-Yr Follow-U	р	R	elative Treatment	Effect ^d	Absolute ^e
	$Geometric^b$					G	eometric					
Treatment Group	n	Mean	(95% CI)	p value	n	Mean	(95% CI)	p value	Rx Effect	(95% CI)	p value	Rx Effect
Whole Stromal Region												
4-Arm												
Placebo	12	212.7	(102.1-443.0)		12	122.8	(59.0-255.8)					
Calcium	16	161.0	(83.3-311.3)	0.56	16	81.1	(41.9-156.7)	0.38	0.87	(0.34 - 2.23)	0.77	9.93
Vitamin D	17	107.8	(58.0-200.4)	0.15	17	94.8	(51.0-176.2)	0.58	1.52	(0.60 - 3.85)	0.37	76.87
Calcium + Vitamin D	18	136.0	(73.1-253.3)	0.34	18	77.9	(41.8-145.0)	0.33	0.99	(0.40-2.48)	0.98	31.71
2-Arm												
Placebo	23	38.3	(23.8-61.4)		23	53.9	(37.0-78.4)					
Vitamin D	19	36.4	(25.1-53.0)	0.25	19	67.8	(40.7-112.9)	0.74	1.36	(0.62 - 2.97)	0.43	15.69
Upper 40% of Stromal Region												
4-Arm												
Placebo	12	132.1	(63.1-276.6)		12	87.0	(41.6-182.2)					
Calcium	16	100.8	(51.9-195.7)	0.57	16	51.3	(26.4-99.6)	0.27	0.77	(0.30 - 1.99)	0.59	-4.40
Vitamin D	17	71.2	(38.2-132.9)	0.19	17	59.4	(31.8-110.9)	0.42	1.27	(0.50-3.22)	0.61	33.27
Calcium + Vitamin D	18	87.9	(47.0-164.3)	0.38	18	51.7	(27.6-96.6)	0.27	0.89	(0.36 - 2.24)	0.81	8.88
2-Arm												
Placebo	23	67.8	(40.7-112.9)		23	38.9	(23.3-64.8)					
Vitamin D	19	42.9	(24.7-74.4)	0.23	19	34.2	(19.7-59.3)	0.73	1.39	(0.64-2.99)	0.39	20.17
Lower 60% of Stromal Region	ı											
4-Arm												
Placebo	12	63.7	(27.1-149.8)		12	23.2	(9.9-54.6)					
Calcium	16	42.2	(19.6-90.9)	0.46	16	18.3	(8.5-39.4)	0.67	1.19	(0.36-3.99)	0.77	16.60
Vitamin D	17	24.0	(11.7-49.4)	0.08	17	23.6	(11.5-48.7)	0.97	2.70	(0.82 - 8.92)	0.10	40.13
Calcium + Vitamin D	18	35.7	(17.3-73.5)	0.29	18	16.8	(8.2-34.6)	0.55	1.29	(0.40 - 4.21)	0.66	21.63
2-Arm												
Placebo	23	30.8	(17.9-53.0)		23	17.5	(10.1-30.1)					
Vitamin D	19	18.1	(10.1-32.6)	0.19	19	16.1	(9.0-29.1)	0.84	1.57	(0.64 - 3.84)	0.31	11.35
φh ^c												
4-Arm												
Placebo	12	63.1	(57.5-68.7)		12	71.1	(65.6-76.7)					
Calcium	16	63.0	(58.1-68.0)	0.99	16	63.8	(58.8-68.8)	0.05	-7.28	(-16.18-1.63)	0.11	0.90
Vitamin D	17	66.9	(62.2-71.6)	0.28	17	63.9	(59.2-68.6)	0.05	-11.04	(-19.842.25)	0.01	0.85
Calcium + Vitamin D	18	65.2	(60.5-69.9)	0.56	18	66.7	(62.1-71.4)	0.22	-6.45	(-15.14-2.24)	0.14	0.91
2-Arm												
Placebo	23	63.4	(58.6-68.2)		23	62.9	(58.2-67.7)					
Vitamin D	19	61.7	(56.5-66.9)	0.63	19	61.8	(56.7-67.0)	0.75	0.57	(-8.5-9.64)	0.90	1.01

^a The effect of treatment assignment on TLR5 expression was modeled using PROC MIXED in SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC), controlling for age, gender (if 4-arm) and study center ^b Data were log-transformed. Reported values are geometric means (95% CI) of optical density

^c Defined as the percent of expression in the distribution zone (expression in upper 40% of crypts over expression in the whole crypts). Values are means of the optical density (not geometric means)

^d Relative Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)/(Tx BL)]/[(Pl Y1)/(Pl BL)] ^e Absolute Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)-(Tx BL)]-[(Pl Y1)-(Pl BL)]

			Baseline			1-	Yr Follow-Up		Relativ	e Treatment H	Effect ^g	Absolute ^h
		(<i>Geometric^f</i>			G	eometric					
Treatment Effect Comparisons	n	Mean	(95% CI)	p value	n	Mean	(95% CI)	p value	Rx effect	(95% CI)	p value	Rx Effect
Whole Stromal Region												
No calcium	29	201.2	(130.6-310.0)		29	148.7	(83.1-266.1)					
Calcium ^b	34	211.0	(141.6-314.5)	0.87	34	113.7	(66.4-194.6)	0.50	0.73	(0.39-1.35)	0.31	-44.76
No vitamin D	51	179.1	(127.8-251.0)		51	99.1	(66.0-148.9)					
Vitamin D ^c	54	122.4	(88.2-169.9)	0.11	54	89.6	(60.4-133.1)	0.73	1.32	(0.82 - 2.12)	0.24	47.21
Calcium only	39	153.7	(105.3-224.3)		39	84.0	(53.7-131.4)					
Vitamin D and calcium ^d	37	110.2	(74.7-162.4)	0.22	37	74.2	(46.9-117.4)	0.70	1.23	(0.70 - 2.17)	0.47	33.73
Upper 40% of Stromal Region												
No calcium	29	126.8	(83.0-193.7)		29	95.9	(53.6-171.7)					
Calcium	34	130.9	(88.5-193.6)	0.91	34	71.9	(42.0-123.1)	0.47	0.73	(0.39 - 1.34)	0.30	-28.08
No vitamin D	51	110.5	(79.0-154.7)		51	63.1	(41.8-95.3)					
Vitamin D	54	76.6	(55.2-106.2)	0.12	54	55.9	(37.5-83.5)	0.68	1.28	(0.80 - 2.05)	0.30	26.79
Calcium only	39	95.3	(65.2-139.4)		39	52.1	(33.1-81.9)					
Vitamin D and calcium	37	67.9	(46.0-100.3)	0.22	37	46.7	(29.3-74.3)	0.74	1.26	(0.72 - 2.21)	0.42	22.02
Lower 60% of Stromal Region												
No calcium	29	54.6	(33.1-90.3)		29	35.6	(17.7 - 71.7)					
Calcium	34	59.9	(37.7-95.2)	0.79	34	27.1	(14.2-51.7)	0.57	0.69	(0.31-1.55)	0.37	-13.75
No vitamin D	51	52.0	(35.4-76.5)		51	24.4	(15.4-38.8)					
Vitamin D	54	31.6	(21.8-46.0)	0.07	54	23.5	(15.0-36.8)	0.91	1.58	(0.88-2.85)	0.12	19.46
Calcium only	39	43.3	(28.2-66.5)		39	22.0	(13.4-36.2)					
Vitamin D and calcium	37	29.4	(18.9-45.8)	0.22	37	19.2	(11.5-32.1)	0.71	1.29	(0.63-2.61)	0.48	11.09
φh ^e												
No calcium	29	64.0	(60.4-67.6)		29	65.5	(61.9-69.1)					
Calcium	34	62.6	(59.3-65.9)	0.56	34	63.7	(60.4-67.1)	0.47	-0.37	(-6.47-5.73)	0.90	0.99
No vitamin D	51	62.6	(59.6-65.5)		51	64.5	(61.7-67.2)					
Vitamin D	54	63.6	(60.7-66.4)	0.63	54	63.2	(60.5-65.8)	0.50	-2.30	(-7.30-2.70)	0.36	0.96
Calcium only	39	62.8	(59.5-66.1)		39	62.8	(59.9-65.8)					
Vitamin D and calcium	37	62.6	(59.2-66.0)	0.94	37	63.4	(60.4-66.5)	0.78	0.79	(-4.85-6.42)	0.78	1.01
^a The effect of treatment agent on 7	TLR5 (expressio	n was modeled us	sing PROC	MIX	ED in SA	S 9.4 (Cary, NC	C), controlli	ng for age, g	ender (by study	y arm), and	study center
^b Calcium group were patients assi	gned to	o either c	alcium or to calci	ium + vitar	nin D	(combine	d) in the 4-arm	group. Pati	ents in the 2-	arm group wer	e excluded	
^c Vitamin D group consisted of pat	tients a	ssigned t	o vitamin D or to	calcium +	vitam	in D (con	nbined) in the 4-	arm group-	, or to vitami	n D in the 2-arr	m group	
^d Vitamin D and Calcium group co	onsisted	d of patie	nts assigned to ca	lcium + vi	tamin	D (combi	ned) of the 4-ar	m group, o	r to vitamin l	D of the 2-arm	group	
^e Defined as the percent of express	ion in	the differ	entiation zone. V	alues are n	neans	of the opt	ical density (not	t geometric	means)			
^f Data were log-transformed. Repo	rted va	lues are	geometric means	(95% CI) o	of opti	cal densit	у					
^g Relative Treatment effect= [(Tx	Y1)/(T	x BL)]/[((Pl Y1)/(Pl BL)]									

^hAbsolute Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)-(Tx BL)]-[(Pl Y1)-(Pl BL)]

Table 4. Stratified Comparisons of TLR5 Expression in the Whole Stromal Region of Normal-Appearing Rectal Mucosa of Study Participants (n=105) ^a by
Treatment Agent and Frequency of NSAID Use

	luciney o	11101112	Baseline			1-1	r Follow-up		Relativ	Absolute ^g		
		G	eometric ^e			G	Geometric	-				
Frequency of NSAID use	n	Mean	95% CI	p value	n	Mean	95% CI	р	Rx effect	95% CI	p value	Rx Effect
								value				
Less than every other day												
No calcium	21	211.3	(126.9-352.0)		21	145.6	(70.6-300.3)					
Calcium ^b	22	260.9	(158.5-429.5)	0.55	22	128.4	(63.3-260.6)	0.80	0.71	(0.35 - 1.47)	0.35	-66.72
No vitamin D	34	180.4	(114.6-283.9)		34	100.7	(58.7-172.6)					
Vitamin D ^c	39	125.1	(81.9-191.1)	0.24	39	83.6	(50.6-138.4)	0.62	1.20	(0.66-2.17)	0.55	38.25
Calcium only	26	154.2	(92.8-256.3)		26	81.3	(44.4-148.9)					
Vitamin D and calcium ^d	26	107.3	(64.6-178.2)	0.31	26	70.0	(38.3-128.2)	0.73	1.24	(0.58-2.63)	0.57	35.69
Every other day or greater												
No calcium	8	176.8	(74.0-422.2)		8	157.0	(53.2-463.4)					
Calcium	12	143.0	(70.3 - 291.1)	0.70	12	91.0	(37.6-220.1)	0.42	0.72	(0.19-2.65)	0.60	-32.27
No vitamin D	17	176.5	(110.1-282.9)		17	96.1	(52.7-175.3)					
Vitamin D	15	115.5	(69.9-190.8)	0.22	15	107.3	(56.6-203.4)	0.80	1.71	(0.76 - 3.84)	0.19	72.16
Calcium only	13	152.6	(87.4-266.5)		13	89.6	(47.2-169.8)					
Vitamin D and calcium	11	117.3	(64.0-215.01)	0.51	11	85.0	(42.4-170.4)	0.91	1.23	(0.52 - 2.92)	0.62	30.71
^a The effect of treatment age	nt on TL	.R5 expres	sion was modele	d using PR	OC M	IXED in S	SAS 9.4 (Cary, N	C), contro	lling for age,	gender (by stu	dy arm), and	d study
center												
^b Calcium group were patien	ts assigr	ed to eithe	er calcium or to c	alcium + v	itamin	D (combi	ned) in the 4-arm	group. Pa	atients in the	2-arm group we	ere excluded	b
^c Vitamin D group consisted	of patie	nts assigne	ed to vitamin D c	r to calciur	n + vit	amin D (c	ombined) in the 4	4-arm grou	ip, or to vitan	nin D in the 2-a	ırm group	
^d Vitamin D and Calcium gro	oup cons	sisted of pa	atients assigned t	o calcium +	- vitam	in D (con	bined) of the 4-a	rm group,	or to vitamir	D of the 2-arm	n group	

^e Data were log-transformed. Reported values are geometric means (95% CI) of optical density ^f Relative Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)/(Tx BL)]/[(Pl Y1)/(Pl BL)] ^g Absolute Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)-(Tx BL)]-[(Pl Y1)-(Pl BL)]

Table 5. Stratified Comparisons of TLR5 Expression in the Whole Stromal Region of Normal-Appearing Rectal Mucosa of Study Participants (n=105) ^a by
Treatment Agent and Frequency of Aspirin Use

			Baseline	_		1-Y	r Follow-up		Relativ	Absolute ^g		
		G	'eometric ^e			G	eometric	-				
Frequency of Aspirin use	n	Mean	95% CI	p value	n	Mean	95% CI	p value	Rx effect	95% CI	p value	Rx Effect
Less than every other day												
No calcium	16	197.3	(110.3-352.9)		16	145.8	(62.8-338.3)					
Calcium ^b	15	184.5	(101.2-336.3)	0.87	15	58.9	(24.7-140.6)	0.14	0.43	(0.17 - 1.12)	0.08	-74.06
No vitamin D	27	177.1	(113.1-277.3)		27	90.2	(50.8-160.0)					
Vitamin D ^c	33	103.4	(68.9-155.2)	0.08	33	61.2	(36.4-102.8)	0.32	1.16	(0.60-2.24)	0.65	44.69
Calcium only	21	134.5	(82.0-220.5)		21	69.0	(38.6-123.1)					
Vitamin D and calcium ^d	23	97.6	(60.8-156.6)	0.35	23	47.3	(27.2-82.2)	0.35	0.94	(0.44 - 2.02)	0.88	15.17
Every other day or greater												
No calcium	13	206.1	(103.3-411.3)		13	152.3	(68.5-338.4)					
Calcium	19	234.6	(132.5-415.5)	0.77	19	191.0	(98.7-369.8)	0.66	1.10	(0.50-2.41)	0.80	10.23
No vitamin D	24	181.4	(106.8-307.9)		24	110.3	(63.0-193.2)					
Vitamin D	21	159.4	(90.5-280.7)	0.74	21	163.3	(89.7-297.4)	0.34	1.68	(0.84 - 3.37)	0.14	74.98
Calcium only	18	179.6	(97.0-332.6)		18	105.7	(53.9-207.1)					
Vitamin D and calcium	14	134.4	(66.8-270.2)	0.53	14	155.6	(72.6-333.6)	0.44	1.97	(0.83 - 4.65)	0.12	95.13
^a The effect of treatment agent of	on TLR:	5 expressi	on was modeled u	using PRO	C MIX	ED in SA	S 9.4 (Cary, NC	C), controll	ing for age, g	gender (by stud	dy arm), ar	nd study
center												

^b Calcium group were patients assigned to either calcium or to calcium + vitamin D (combined) in the 4-arm group. Patients in the 2-arm group were excluded ^c Vitamin D group consisted of patients assigned to vitamin D or to calcium + vitamin D (combined) in the 4-arm group, or to vitamin D in the 2-arm group ^d Vitamin D and Calcium group consisted of patients assigned to calcium + vitamin D (combined) of the 4-arm group, or to vitamin D of the 2-arm group

^e Data were log-transformed. Reported values are geometric means (95% CI) of optical density

^fRelative Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)/(Tx BL)]/[(Pl Y1)/(Pl BL)]

^g Absolute Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)-(Tx BL)]-[(Pl Y1)-(Pl BL)]

Table 6. Stratified Comparisons of TLR5 Expression in the Wh	ole Stromal Region of Normal-Appearing Rectal Mucosa of Study Participants (n=105) ^a by
Treatment Agent and Baseline Serum Level	

									41 1 4 9			
			Baseline	-			Yr Follow-up		Relative	Absolutes		
		Ge	cometric ^e		Geometric							
Baseline Serum Vitamin D Level	n	Mean	95% CI	p value	n	Mean	95% CI	p value	Rx effect	95% CI	р	Rx Effect
											value	
Below Median												
No calcium	17	245.8	(150.2-402.4)		17	212.0	(97.0-463.4)					
Calcium ^b	16	269.8	(162.3-448.4)	0.79	16	145.8	(65.1-326.4)	0.50	0.63	(0.25 - 1.54)	0.30	-90.14
No vitamin D	27	178.4	(119.7-265.9)		27	83.4	(45.6-152.7)					
Vitamin D ^c	25	174.8	(115.5-264.5)	0.94	25	152.8	(81.5-286.4)	0.17	1.87	(0.94 - 3.74)	0.08	73.05
Calcium only	19	142.1	(89.4-226.0)		19	62.2	(29.7-130.3)					
Vitamin D and calcium ^d	16	161.0	(97.1-266.9)	0.71	16	113.0	(50.5-253.0)	0.27	1.60	(0.67-3.86)	0.28	31.90
Above Median												
No calcium	12	151.4	(69.6-329.5)		12	90.0	(36.5-221.9)					
Calcium	18	169.6	(89.9-320.0)	0.82	18	91.2	(43.6-190.6)	0.98	0.91	(0.36 - 2.25)	0.82	-16.91
No vitamin D	24	179.8	(103.4-312.7)		24	120.4	(71.2-203.8)					
Vitamin D	29	90.0	(54.4-148.9)	0.07	29	56.6	(35.1-91.3)	0.04	0.94	(0.48-1.83)	0.85	26.02
Calcium only	20	165.6	(91.6-299.4)		20	111.7	(65.5-190.5)					
Vitamin D and calcium	21	82.5	(46.23-147.1)	0.10	21	53.8	(32.0-90.62)	0.05	0.97	(0.45-2.1)	0.93	25.19
^a The effect of treatment agent on TL	.R5 expr	ression was r	modeled using PR	ROC MIXE	ED in	SAS 9.4	(Cary, NC), con	ntrolling fo	or age, gende	er (by study arr	n), and st	udy center
^b Calcium group were patients assign	ied to eit	ther calcium	or to calcium $+ v$	ritamin D (comb	ined) in	the 4-arm group	. Patients	in the 2-arm	group were ex	cluded	
^c Vitamin D group consisted of patie	nts assig	ned to vitan	nin D or to calciur	n + vitami	n D (combined	d) in the 4-arm	group, or to	o vitamin D	in the 2-arm gr	roup	
^d Vitamin D and Calcium group cons	sisted of	patients assi	igned to calcium -	+ vitamin I	D (coi	mbined)	of the 4-arm gro	oup, or to v	vitamin D of	the 2-arm grou	ıp	
^e Data were log-transformed. Report	ed values	s are geome	tric means (95% C	CI) of optic	cal de	nsity						
^f Relative Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)/(Tx BI	L)]/[(Pl Y1)/	/(Pl BL)]									
^g Absolute Treatment effect= [(Tx Y	1)-(Tx B	3L)]-[(Pl Y1)-(Pl BL)]									
^h Medium Baseline Serum Vitamin I) level: 2	22.7 ng/mL	-									

Table 7. Stratified Comparisons of TLR5 Expression in the Whole Stromal Region of Normal-Appearing Rectal Mucosa of Study Participants (n=105) ^a by	
Treatment Agent and Baseline Total Calcium Intake	

, and the second s	Baseline				1-Yr Follow-up			Relative Treatment Effect ^g			Absolute ^h	
		G	eometric ^f			G	eometric					
Baseline Total Calcium Intake	n	Mean	95% CI	p value	n	Mean	95% CI	p value	Rx effect	95% CI	p value	Rx Effect
Below Median ^b												
No calcium	21	194.9	(118.0-321.8)		21	133.5	(67.8-263.0)					
Calcium ^c	19	243.7	(143.8-412.8)	0.54	19	111.5	(54.7-227.3)	0.71	0.67	(0.29 - 1.53)	0.33	-70.86
No vitamin D	27	235.9	(149.6-372.2)		27	106.2	(59.1-191.0)					
Vitamin D ^d	31	127.3	(83.2-194.7)	0.05	31	92.9	(53.7-160.7)	0.74	1.62	(0.82 - 3.21)	0.16	95.36
Calcium only	18	225.7	(127.8-398.7)		18	99.0	(46.5-210.8)					
Vitamin D and calcium ^e	19	111.0	(63.8-193.2)	0.08	19	70.9	(34.0-148.0)	0.53	1.46	(0.62 - 3.43)	0.38	86.64
Above Median												
No calcium	8	218.7	(87.4-547.7)		16	197.1	(57.2-679.3)					
Calcium	15	175.8	(89.9-343.7)	0.69	20	116.6	(47.2-287.9)	0.48	0.74	(0.27 - 1.99)	0.53	-37.57
No vitamin D	24	131.3	(78.8-218.8)		31	91.7	(51.1-164.6)					
Vitamin D	23	116.0	(68.9-195.5)	0.73	36	85.4	(47.0-155.2)	0.86	1.05	(0.54 - 2.04)	0.88	8.93
Calcium only	21	110.6	(66.3-184.3)		25	73.0	(42.1-126.4)					
Vitamin D and calcium	18	109.3	(62.9-189.7)	0.97	26	77.8	(43.0-140.8)	0.87	1.08	(0.49-2.38)	0.85	6.15
^a The effect of treatment agent on T	LR5 exp	ression wa	is modeled using	PROC M	IXED	in SAS	9.4 (Cary, NC),	controllin	g for age, ger	nder (by study a	rm), and stu	udy center

^b Median Total Calcium Intake: 763.5 mg/d

^c Calcium group were patients assigned to either calcium or to calcium + vitamin D (combined) in the 4-arm group. Patients in the 2-arm group were excluded ^d Vitamin D group consisted of patients assigned to vitamin D or to calcium + vitamin D (combined) in the 4-arm group, or to vitamin D in the 2-arm group ^e Vitamin D and Calcium group consisted of patients assigned to calcium + vitamin D (combined) of the 4-arm group, or to vitamin D of the 2-arm group ^f Data were log-transformed. Reported values are geometric means (95% CI) of optical density

^gRelative Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)/(Tx BL)]/[(Pl Y1)/(Pl BL)]

^hAbsolute Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)-(Tx BL)]-[(Pl Y1)-(Pl BL)]

Geometric ^b Baseline Characteristics n Mean $(95\% CI)$ Diff " p value ^d Age (55 33 118.7 (82.5-170.6) (55.63) (55.63) (26.8) (26.9) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.9) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.8) (26.	Table 8. Categorical Baseline Predictors of TLR5 Expression in Stromal Region at Baseline ^a									
Baseline Characteristics n Mean (95% CI) Diff $^{\circ}$ $p value^{d}$ Age <55 33 118.7 (82.5-170.6) 55-63 35 150.4 (106.9-211.8) 26.8 >63 36 37 124.0 (88.9-173.0) 4.5 0.80 Sex (106.9-211.8) 26.8 0.80 Sex (106.9-211.8) 0.57 Men 49 140.6 (91.9-215.1) 0.57 Race 0.517 0.517 Race 0.01 119 0.01 0.01 0.01 124.1 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.01				<i>Geometric^b</i>						
Age <55 33 118.7 (82,5-170.6) 55-63 > >63 37 124.0 (82,5-170.6) 56.8 Men 49 140.6 (91,9-215.1) 0.80 Sex (88,9-173.0) 4.5 0.80 Men 49 140.6 (91,9-215.1) 0.67 Race (104,113.3) (88,9-173.0) 4.5 0.80 Non-White 22 212.2 (136,1-330.8) 0.01 White 83 114.3 (88,9-146.9) -46.1 0.01 1° family history of CRC (104,2-185.6) -46.1 0.01 No 9 105.4 (59,0-188.1) -26.9 0.30 Regular aspirin user (104,2-185.6) -46.1 0.44 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) (104,2-185.6) -46.1 0.44 No 40 119.8 (83,1-172.6) -78.8 0.84 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) -41.1 0.44 682,2-165.0) -13.3	Baseline Characteristics	n	Mean	(95% CI)	Diff ^c	p value ^d				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Age									
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	<55	33	118.7	(82.5-170.6)						
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	55-63	35	150.4	(106.9-211.8)	26.8					
Sex Men 49 1406 (91.9-215.1) Women 56 120.8 (88.0-165.9) -14.1 0.57 Race No.White 22 212.2 (136.1-330.8) White 83 114.3 (88.9-146.9) -46.1 0.01 1° family history of CRC No 93 144.2 (112.4-185.1) Yes 9 105.4 (59.0-188.1) -26.9 0.30 Regular NSAID use Less than once a week 73 139.0 (104.2-185.6) Once a week or greater 32 119.2 (85.1-166.9) -14.3 0.44 Regular aspirin user Less than once a week 60 132.5 (100.4-174.9) Once a week or greater 45 127.5 (91.2-178.3) -3.8 0.84 Current HT user (women only, N=56) No 40 119.8 (83.1-172.6) Yes 16 90.9 (48.7-169.8) -24.1 0.48 Smoking status Never 61 134.3 (100.1-180.0) Former 616 134.3 (100.1-180.0) Former 616 146.4 (82.2-165.0) -13.3 Current 8 169.6 (90.6-317.5) 26.3 0.89 Multivitamin user No 34 149.7 (109.8-204.1) Yes 71 114.4 (84.2-155.4) -23.6 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ¹⁴ Low 33 125.6 (90.4-174.6) Moderate 36 169.8 (125.2-30.3) 35.1 High 36 91.5 (64.9-129.0) -27.2 0.14 BMI Normal (<25) 22 115.5 (74.7-178.8) Overweight (25.30) 43 153.9 (111.7-210.) 33.2 Obese (\geq 30) 40 120.2 (87.4-165.3) 4.0 0.52 Number of adenomas I polyp 76 131.6 (99.9-173.4) > 1 polyp 76 131.6 (99.9-173.4) > 1 polyp 72 128.5 (74.7-178.8) Overweight (25.30) 43 125.6 (74.7-178.8) Overweight (25.30) 43 125.9 (11.7-210.) 33.2 Obese (\geq 30) 40 120.2 (87.4-165.3) 4.0 0.52 Number of adenomas I polyp 76 131.6 (99.9-173.4) > 1 polyp 76 131.6 (99.9-173.4) > 1 polyp 79 116.3 (89.4-151.4) Yes 26 179 116.3 (100.6-195.6) Medium 36 152.2 (105	>63	37	124.0	(88.9-173.0)	4.5	0.80				
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Sex									
Women56120.8 $(88.0-165.9)$ -14.1 0.57 RaceNon-White22212.2 $(136.1-330.8)$ $(88.9-146.9)$ -46.1 0.01 I' family history of CRCNo93 144.2 $(112.4-185.1)$ -26.9 0.30 Regular NSAID use105.4 $(59.0-188.1)$ -26.9 0.30 Regular spirin user21 (25.2) (25.2) 0.30 Regular spirin user (25.2) (25.2) (25.2) 0.30 Current HT user (women only, N=56) (25.2) (25.2) (25.2) 0.44 No40 119.8 $(83.1-172.6)$ -3.8 0.84 Current HT user (women only, N=56) $(25.2-130.3)$ -3.8 0.84 No40 119.8 $(83.1-172.6)$ -13.3 0.48 Smoking status $(90.6-317.5)$ 26.3 0.89 Multivitamin user $(90.6-317.5)$ 26.3 0.89 No34 149.7 $(109.8-204.1)$ $7.22.6$ 0.18 Yes71 114.4 $(82.2-155.4)$ -23.6 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^{1/8} $12.5.9$ $0.2.2.33$ 35.1 Low33 125.6 $(90.4-174.6)$ 0.52 Mortal (<25)22 115.5 $(74.7-178.8)$ 0.52 Overweight (25-30)43 153.9 $(111.7-212.0)$ 33.2 Obses (≥ 30)40 120.2 $(87.4-165.3)$ 4.0 0.52 Number of adenomas 126.5 $(8$	Men	49	140.6	(91.9-215.1)						
Race (136.1-330.8) (136.1-330.8) White 22 212.2 (136.1-330.8) (136.1-330.8) I* family history of CRC (124.1185.1) -46.1 0.01 No 9 105.4 (59.0-188.1) -26.9 0.30 Regular NSAID use (104.2-185.6) Once a week or greater 32 119.2 (85.1-166.9) -14.3 0.44 Regular aspirin use (100.4-174.9) Once a week or greater 45 127.5 (91.2-178.3) -3.8 0.84 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) No 40 119.8 (83.1-172.6) Yes 16 90.9 (48.7-169.8) -24.1 0.48 Smoking status No 115.4 (82.2-165.0) -13.3 Current 8 169.6 (90.6-317.5) 26.3 0.89 Multivitamin user No 34 149.7 (109.8-204.1) Yes 71 114.4 (84.2-155.4) -23.6 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^{1*} ICurrent 8169.6 (90.4-174.6) </td <td>Women</td> <td>56</td> <td>120.8</td> <td>(88.0-165.9)</td> <td>-14.1</td> <td>0.57</td>	Women	56	120.8	(88.0-165.9)	-14.1	0.57				
Non-White 22 212.2 (136.1-330.8) White 83 114.3 (88.9-146.9) -46.1 0.01 1° family history of CRC 9 105.4 (59.0-188.1) -26.9 0.30 Regular NSAID use (112.4-185.1) 9 105.4 (59.0-188.1) -26.9 0.30 Regular aspirin use (104.2-185.6) (104.2-185.6) 0 0 0.43 0.44 Regular aspirin use (100.4-174.9) 0 0.44 0.44 0.44 Regular aspirin user (100.4-174.9) 0 0 0.45 0.44 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) No 40 119.8 (83.1-172.6) 7 Yes 16 90.9 (48.7-169.8) -24.1 0.48 Smoking status (100.1-180.0) -13.3 0 0 Former 36 1164.4 (82.2-165.0) -13.3 Current 8 169.6 (90.6-317.5) 26.3 0.89 Multivitamin user 1	Race									
White 83 114.3 $(88.9-146.9)$ -46.1 0.01 1° family history of CRC 93 144.2 $(112.4-185.1)$ -26.9 0.30 Regular NSAID use 1 (59.0-188.1) -26.9 0.30 Regular aspirin user 2 119.2 $(85.1-166.9)$ -14.3 0.44 Regular aspirin user 0 127.5 $(91.2-178.3)$ -3.8 0.84 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) 0 00.9 $(48.7-169.8)$ -24.1 0.48 No 0 119.8 $(83.1-172.6)$ -74.1 0.48 Smoking status 0 119.8 $(83.1-172.6)$ -74.1 0.48 Never 66 132.5 $(100.1-180.0)$ -74.1 0.48 Smoking status 0 116.4 $(82.2-165.0)$ -13.3 Never 36 116.4 $(82.2-15.4)$ -23.6 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ¹ * 114.4 $(84.2-15.4)$ -23.6 0.18 Multivitamin user 33 125.6 $(90.4-$	Non-White	22	212.2	(136.1-330.8)						
	White	83	114.3	(88.9-146.9)	-46.1	0.01				
No 93 144.2 (112.4-185.1) Yes 9 105.4 (59.0-188.1) -26.9 0.30 Regular NSAID use (104.2-185.6) (104.2-185.6) (104.2-185.6) 0.44 Less than once a week 60 132.5 (100.4-174.9) 0.44 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) (104.2-185.6) (102.4-178.3) -3.8 0.84 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) (102.4-178.3) -3.8 0.84 No 40 119.8 (83.1-172.6) -24.1 0.48 Smoking status (102.2-165.0) -13.3 -24.1 0.48 Never 61 134.3 (100.1-180.0) -50.3 0.89 Multivitamin user (90.6-317.5) 26.3 0.89 0.89 0.14 (84.2-155.4) -23.6 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ¹ * 114.4 (84.2-155.4) -23.6 0.18 0.14 Moderate 36 125.6 (90.4-174.6) 0.14 0.14 Moderate 36	1° family history of CRC	0.2	144.0	(110 4 105 1)						
Yes 9 105.4 (59.0-188.1) -26.9 0.30 Regular NSAID use 1 139.0 (104.2-185.6) 0 Once a week or greater 32 119.2 (85.1-166.9) -14.3 0.44 Regular aspirin user (85.1-166.9) -14.3 0.44 Less than once a week 60 132.5 (100.4-174.9) 0 Once a week or greater 45 127.5 (91.2-178.3) -3.8 0.84 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) 0 40 119.8 (83.1-172.6) - No 40 119.8 (83.1-169.8) -24.1 0.48 Smoking status - - 0.66 (90.6-317.5) 26.3 0.89 Multivitamin user - 8 169.6 (90.4-174.6) - - No 34 149.7 (109.8-204.1) - - 27.2 0.14 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ¹ * - - 26.16.9.8 (125.2-230.3) 35.1 - High 36 91.5 (64.9-129.0) -27.2 0.	No	93	144.2	(112.4-185.1)	•					
Regular NSAID use 139.0 $(104.2-185.6)$ 0.44 Less than once a week 32 119.2 $(85.1-166.9)$ -14.3 0.44 Regular aspirin user 45 127.5 $(91.2-178.3)$ -3.8 0.84 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) 0.90 $(48.7-169.8)$ -24.1 0.48 Smoking status 16 90.9 $(48.7-169.8)$ -24.1 0.48 Smoking status 0.44 $(82.2-165.0)$ -13.3 0.89 Multivitamin user 3 169.6 $(90.6-317.5)$ 26.3 0.89 Multivitamin user 7 114.4 $(84.2-155.4)$ -23.6 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ¹⁴ 109.8 $(125.2-230.3)$ 35.1 114.4 Low 33 125.6 $(90.4-174.6)$ 0.14 Moderate 36 169.8 $(125.2-230.3)$ 35.1 High 36 91.5 $(64.9-129.0)$ -27.2 0.14 BMI 120.2 $(87.4-165.3)$ 4.0 0.52 Number of adenomas 1 1	Yes	9	105.4	(59.0-188.1)	-26.9	0.30				
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Regular NSAID use	72	120.0	(104.2.105.()						
Conce a week or greater 32 119.2 (85.1-166.9) -14.3 0.44 Regular asprin user Less than once a week 60 132.5 (100.4-174.9) Once a week or greater 45 127.5 (91.2-178.3) -3.8 0.84 Current HRT user (women only, N=56) 40 119.8 (83.1-172.6) Yes 16 90.9 (48.7-169.8) -24.1 0.48 Smoking status	Less than once a week	/3	139.0	(104.2-185.6)	14.2	0.44				
Regular aspirin user60132.5(100.4-174.9) (91.2-178.3)-3.80.84Current HRT user (women only, N=56) 45 127.5(91.2-178.3)-3.80.84No40119.8(83.1-172.6) 783 883 883 Yes1690.9(48.7-169.8)-24.10.48Smoking status 90.9 (48.7-169.8)-24.10.48Never61134.3(100.1-180.0) 783 Former36116.4(82.2-165.0)-13.3Current8169.6(90.6-317.5)26.3No34149.7(109.8-204.1) 783 Yes71114.4(84.2-155.4)-23.60.18Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^{1*} 125.6 (90.4-174.6) $90.6-317.5$ 0.18Low33125.6(90.4-174.6) $90.6-31.5$ 0.14BMI 91.5 (64.9-129.0)-27.20.14BMI 91.5 (64.9-129.0)-27.20.14BMI 91.5 (92.7)22115.5(74.7-178.8)Overweight (25-30)43153.9(111.7-212.0)33.2Obese (> 30)40120.2(87.4-165.3)4.00.52Number of adenomas $91.28.5$ (88.3-187.2)-2.30.91Had advanced adenomas $92.28.5$ (88.3-187.2)-2.30.91Had advanced adenomas $92.29.0$ 14.30.5914.30.59Had advanced adenomas $92.29.0$ 14.3<	Once a week or greater	32	119.2	(85.1-166.9)	-14.3	0.44				
Less than once a week or greater 45 122.5 $(100.4-174.9)$ Once a week or greater 45 127.5 $(91.2-178.3)$ -3.8 0.84 Current HRT user (women only, N=56)	Regular aspirin user	(0	122.5	$(100 \ 4 \ 174 \ 0)$						
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Less than once a week	60	132.5	(100.4 - 1/4.9)	2.0	0.94				
Current NR Tuser (women only, N=36)40119.8(83.1-172.6)Yes1690.9(48.7-169.8)-24.10.48Smoking status	Comment LIDT area (areaman and N=5()	45	127.5	(91.2-1/8.3)	-3.8	0.84				
No 40 119.5 $(83.1-172.6)$ Yes 16 90.9 $(48.7-169.8)$ -24.1 0.48 Smoking status	Current HKT user (women only, N=56)	40	110.0	$(92 \ 1 \ 172 \ 6)$						
Tes 16 90.9 (48.7-169.6) -24.1 0.48 Smoking status (100.1-180.0) (100.1-180.0) (100.1-180.0) Former 36 116.4 (82.2-165.0) -13.3 Current 8 169.6 (90.6-317.5) 26.3 0.89 Multivitamin user 71 (114.4 (84.2-155.4) -23.6 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ¹ * (48.2-155.4) -23.6 0.18 Low 33 125.6 (90.4-174.6) (90.6-317.5) 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ¹ * (48.2-155.4) -23.6 0.18 Low 33 125.6 (90.4-174.6) (90.6-317.5) 0.14 BMI 100 36 91.5 (64.9-129.0) -27.2 0.14 BMI 100 22 115.5 (74.7-178.8) 00 0.52 Number of adenomas 1 100 yp 76 131.6 (99.9-173.4) -2.3 0.91 Had advanced adenomas 1 101 yr 29 128.5 (88.3-187.2) -2.3 0.91	NO	40	00.0	(85.1-1/2.0)	24.1	0.49				
Sinoking status 61 134.3 (100.1-180.0) Former 36 116.4 (82.2-165.0) -13.3 Current 8 169.6 (90.6-317.5) 26.3 0.89 Multivitamin user No 34 149.7 (109.8-204.1) Yes 71 114.4 (84.2-155.4) -23.6 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ¹ * Low 33 125.6 (90.4-174.6) Moderate 36 169.8 (125.2-230.3) 35.1 High 36 91.5 (64.9-129.0) -27.2 0.14 BMI <	f es Smolving status	10	90.9	(48./-109.8)	-24.1	0.40				
Nevel0113.3(101-130.0)Former36116.4(82.2-165.0)-13.3Current8169.6(90.6-317.5)26.30.89Multivitamin user71114.4(84.2-155.4)-23.60.18Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^{1*} 71114.4(84.2-155.4)-23.60.18Low33125.6(90.4-174.6)100.6100.6100.6Moderate36169.8(125.2-230.3)35.1100.6High3691.5(64.9-129.0)-27.20.14BMI7071.117.574.7-178.8)75.274.7-178.8Overweight (25-30)43153.9(111.7-212.0)33.2Obese (≥ 30)40120.2(87.4-165.3)4.00.52Number of adenomas76131.6(99.9-173.4)2923.51polyp76131.6(99.9-173.4)29> 1polyp76131.6(93.6-229.0)14.30.59Had advanced adenomas79116.3(89.4-151.4)79No79116.3(89.4-151.4)790.06Yes26173.4(119.1-252.4)49.00.06Total energy intake (kcal/d) ¹ *26173.4(100.6-195.6)49.0Medium36152.2(105.4-219.9)8.5140.3100.6-195.6)High34108.0(77.2-151.2)-23.00.23	Shloking status	61	124.2	$(100 \ 1 \ 180 \ 0)$						
Former36110.4 $(82.2-105.0)$ -13.3 Current8169.6 $(90.6-317.5)$ 26.3 0.89 Multivitamin user No 34149.7 $(109.8-204.1)$ Yes71114.4 $(84.2-155.4)$ -23.6 0.18 Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ¹ * Low 33125.6 $(90.4-174.6)$ Moderate36169.8 $(125.2-230.3)$ 35.1High3691.5 $(64.9-129.0)$ -27.2 0.14 BMI $Normal (<25)$ 22115.5 $(74.7-178.8)$ Overweight (25-30)43153.9 $(111.7-212.0)$ 33.2Obese (≥ 30)40120.2 $(87.4-165.3)$ 4.0 Number of adenomas 1 polyp29128.5 $(88.3-187.2)$ -2.3 0.91 Had advanced adenomas No 83128.1 $(97.6-168.1)$ Yes19146.4 $(93.6-229.0)$ 14.3 0.59 Had serrated adenomas No 79116.3 $(89.4-151.4)$ Yes26173.4 $(119.1-252.4)$ 49.0 0.06 Total energy intake (kcal/d) ¹ * Low 35140.3 $(100.6-195.6)$ Medium36152.2 $(105.4-219.9)$ 8.5High34108.0 $(77.2-151.2)$ -23.0 0.23	Former	26	134.3	(100.1-180.0)	12.2					
Currenta109.0 $(90.0-317.3)$ 20.3 0.39 Multivitamin user	Current	50 0	160.6	(02.2-103.0)	-15.5	0.80				
Numbrian No34149.7 (109.8-204.1) (114.4(109.8-204.1) (84.2-155.4)-23.60.18Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^t * Low33125.6(90.4-174.6) (90.4-174.6)0.16Moderate36169.8 (125.2-230.3)35.1 (11.7-212.0)0.14BMI3691.5(64.9-129.0)-27.20.14BMI022115.5(74.7-178.8) (90.4-165.3)0.52Obese (≥ 30)40120.2(87.4-165.3)4.00.52Number of adenomas1100/pp76131.6(99.9-173.4) (93.6-229.0)-2.30.91Had advanced adenomas83128.1(97.6-168.1) (93.6-229.0)14.30.59Had serrated adenomas91146.4(93.6-229.0)14.30.59No79116.3(89.4-151.4) (Ps26173.4119.1-252.4)49.00.06Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *26173.4(119.1-252.4)49.00.06Medium36152.2(105.4-219.9)8.5140.3(100.6-195.6) (105.4-219.9)8.5High34108.0(77.2-151.2)-23.00.23	Multivitamin user	0	109.0	(90.0-317.3)	20.5	0.09				
No34149.7(109.05204.1)Yes71114.4 $(84.2-155.4)$ -23.60.18Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^{1*} 33125.6 $(90.4-174.6)$ ModerateLow36169.8 $(125.2-230.3)$ 35.1High3691.5 $(64.9-129.0)$ -27.20.14BMI0verweight (25-30)43153.9 $(111.7-212.0)$ 33.2Obese (≥ 30)40120.2 $(87.4-165.3)$ 4.00.52Number of adenomas11131.6 $(99.9-173.4)$ > 1 polyp76131.6 $(99.9-173.4)$ -23.30.91Had advanced adenomas11146.4 $(93.6-229.0)$ 14.30.59Had serrated adenomas026173.4119.1-252.4)49.00.06Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^{1*} 26173.4(119.1-252.4)49.00.06High34108.0 $(77.2-151.2)$ -23.00.23	No	3/	1/0 7	(109.8-204.1)						
Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^t * 111.1.1 (01.2.135.1) 125.0 0.10 Low 33 125.6 (90.4-174.6) Moderate 36 169.8 (125.2-230.3) 35.1 High 36 91.5 (64.9-129.0) -27.2 0.14 BMI 0 111.7-212.0) 33.2 0.15 Overweight (25-30) 43 153.9 (111.7-212.0) 33.2 Obese (≥ 30) 40 120.2 (87.4-165.3) 4.0 0.52 Number of adenomas 1 polyp 76 131.6 (99.9-173.4) -2.3 0.91 Had advanced adenomas 1 polyp 29 128.5 (88.3-187.2) -2.3 0.91 Had serrated adenomas 1 91.90 29 128.5 (88.3-187.2) -2.3 0.91 Had serrated adenomas 0 83 128.1 (97.6-168.1) 14.3 0.59 Had serrated adenomas 0 79 116.3 (89.4-151.4) 0.06 Yes 26 173.4 (119.1-252.4) 49.0 0.06 <	Ves	71	114.4	(10).0-20+.1) (84 2-155 4)	-23.6	0.18				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^t *	, 1		(01.2 100.1)	25.0	0.10				
DotDotDotDotDotModerate36169.8 $(125.2-230.3)$ 35.1High3691.5 $(64.9-129.0)$ -27.2 0.14 BMINormal (<25)	Low	33	125.6	(90 4-174 6)						
High3691.5(64.9-129.0)-27.20.14BMINormal (<25)	Moderate	36	169.8	(125.2-230.3)	35.1					
BMI Normal (<25)	High	36	91.5	(64.9-129.0)	-27.2	0.14				
Normal (<25)22115.5(74.7-178.8)Overweight (25-30)43153.9(111.7-212.0)33.2Obese (≥ 30)40120.2(87.4-165.3)4.00.52Number of adenomas1 polyp76131.6(99.9-173.4)> 1 polyp29128.5(88.3-187.2)-2.30.91Had advanced adenomasNo83128.1(97.6-168.1)Yes19146.4(93.6-229.0)14.30.59Had serrated adenomasNo79116.3(89.4-151.4)Yes26173.4(119.1-252.4)49.00.06Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *Low35140.3(100.6-195.6)-8.5High34108.0(77.2-151.2)-23.00.23	BMI			(****						
Overweight (25-30) Obese (\geq 30)43153.9 40(111.7-212.0) (87.4-165.3)33.2 4.0Number of adenomas 1 polyp76131.6 (99.9-173.4) 29(99.9-173.4) 2976> 1 polyp76131.6 (99.9-173.4) 29(98.3-187.2)-2.3Had advanced adenomas No Yes19146.4 (146.4(97.6-168.1) (93.6-229.0)14.3Had serrated adenomas No Yes79116.3 (163.4(89.4-151.4) (119.1-252.4)49.0Out Had serrated adenomas79116.3 (119.1-252.4)49.00.06Total energy intake (kcal/d)** Low Medium35140.3 (100.6-195.6) (105.4-219.9)8.5 (105.4-219.9)8.5 (105.4-219.9)High34108.0 (77.2-151.2)-23.0 (72.3)0.23	Normal (<25)	22	115.5	(74.7-178.8)						
Obese (≥ 30)40120.2(87.4-165.3)4.00.52Number of adenomas1polyp76131.6(99.9-173.4) $>$ $>$ 1> 1polyp29128.5(88.3-187.2) -2.3 0.91Had advanced adenomas No 83128.1(97.6-168.1) Yes 19Had serrated adenomas Ves 19146.4(93.6-229.0)14.30.59Had serrated adenomas Ves 26173.4(119.1-252.4)49.00.06Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t * Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves High Ves	Overweight (25-30)	43	153.9	(111.7-212.0)	33.2					
Number of adenomas76131.6 $(99.9-173.4)$ > 1 polyp29128.5 $(88.3-187.2)$ -2.3 0.91 Had advanced adenomas83128.1 $(97.6-168.1)$ No83128.1 $(97.6-168.1)$ Yes19146.4 $(93.6-229.0)$ 14.3 0.59 Had serrated adenomas79116.3 $(89.4-151.4)$ Yes26173.4 $(119.1-252.4)$ 49.0 0.06 Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *26152.2 $(105.4-219.9)$ 8.5High34108.0 $(77.2-151.2)$ -23.0 0.23	Obese (≥ 30)	40	120.2	(87.4-165.3)	4.0	0.52				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Number of adenomas									
> 1 polyp 29 128.5 $(88.3-187.2)$ -2.3 0.91 Had advanced adenomas No 83 128.1 $(97.6-168.1)$ 79 Yes 19 146.4 $(93.6-229.0)$ 14.3 0.59 Had serrated adenomas 79 116.3 $(89.4-151.4)$ 79 Yes 26 173.4 $(119.1-252.4)$ 49.0 0.06 Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t * 25 140.3 $(100.6-195.6)$ 140.4 140.4	1 polyp	76	131.6	(99.9-173.4)						
Had advanced adenomasNo83128.1 $(97.6-168.1)$ Yes19146.4 $(93.6-229.0)$ 14.3 0.59 Had serrated adenomasNo79116.3 $(89.4-151.4)$ Yes26173.4 $(119.1-252.4)$ 49.0 0.06 Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *Image: Colored sector of the sector	> 1 polyp	29	128.5	(88.3-187.2)	-2.3	0.91				
No83128.1 $(97.6-168.1)$ Yes19146.4 $(93.6-229.0)$ 14.30.59Had serrated adenomasNo79116.3 $(89.4-151.4)$ Yes26173.4 $(119.1-252.4)$ 49.00.06Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *Low35140.3 $(100.6-195.6)$ Medium36152.2 $(105.4-219.9)$ 8.5High34108.0 $(77.2-151.2)$ -23.0 0.23	Had advanced adenomas									
Yes19146.4 $(93.6-229.0)$ 14.30.59Had serrated adenomas	No	83	128.1	(97.6-168.1)						
Had serrated adenomas 79 116.3 $(89.4-151.4)$ Yes 26 173.4 $(119.1-252.4)$ 49.0 0.06 Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t * Low 35 140.3 $(100.6-195.6)$ Medium 36 152.2 $(105.4-219.9)$ 8.5 High 34 108.0 $(77.2-151.2)$ -23.0 0.23	Yes	19	146.4	(93.6-229.0)	14.3	0.59				
No79116.3 $(89.4-151.4)$ Yes26173.4 $(119.1-252.4)$ 49.00.06Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *Low35140.3 $(100.6-195.6)$ Medium36152.2 $(105.4-219.9)$ 8.5High34108.0 $(77.2-151.2)$ -23.00.23	Had serrated adenomas									
Yes 26 173.4 (119.1-252.4) 49.0 0.06 Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *	No	79	116.3	(89.4-151.4)						
Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t * Low 35 140.3 (100.6-195.6) Medium 36 152.2 (105.4-219.9) 8.5 High 34 108.0 (77.2-151.2) -23.0 0.23	Yes	26	173.4	(119.1-252.4)	49.0	0.06				
Low35140.3(100.6-195.6)Medium36152.2(105.4-219.9)8.5High34108.0(77.2-151.2)-23.00.23	Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *									
Medium36152.2(105.4-219.9)8.5High34108.0(77.2-151.2)-23.00.23	Low	35	140.3	(100.6-195.6)						
High 34 108.0 (77.2-151.2) -23.0 0.23	Medium	36	152.2	(105.4-219.9)	8.5					
	High	34	108.0	(77.2-151.2)	-23.0	0.23				

Table 8. Categorical Baseline Predictors of TLR5 Expression in Stromal Region at Baseline ^a (Cont.)									
			Geometric ^b						
Baseline Characteristics	n	Mean	(95% CI)	Diff ^c	p value ^d				
Percent daily calories from fat ^t *									
Low	35	128.4	(91.3-180.7)						
Moderate	35	187.4	(128.7-272.9)	45.9					
High	35	107.0	(77.9-147.0)	-16.7	0.33				
Dietary fiber (g/1000kcal/d) ^t *									
Low	35	114.4	(82.3-158.9)						
Moderate	35	153.1	(107.3-218.4)	33.8					
High	35	132.3	(90.8-192.7)	15.7	0.56				
Red and processed meat, servings/d									
< 0.5	37	137.1	(98.2-191.4)						
0.5-1	30	137.2	(92.4-203.7)	0.1					
≥ 1	38	119.8	(83.8-171.2)	-12.6	0.57				
Achieved daily recommended intake of fruit and vegetables ($\geq 5 \text{ servings/d}$) [*]									
No	66	137.7	(104.2-182.0)						
Yes	39	119.2	(84.5-168.3)	-13.4	0.47				
Alcohol intake									
None	36	113.0	(78.9-161.8)						
$\leq 1 \text{ drink/wk}$	46	129.3	(90.7-184.2)	14.4					
> 1 drink/wk	23	168.3	(108.9-260.1)	48.9	0.17				
Vitamin D Baseline Serum Levels (Tertiles)									
Low (12.90-17.90)	35	128.9	(91181.1)						
Medium (17.91-26.91)	36	133.0	(92.7-190.8)	3.1					
High (26.92-68.75)	34	130.5	(89.3-190.7)	1.2	0.97				
Baseline Calcium Intake (Tertiles)									
Tertile 1	34	165.8	(121.2-226.8)						
Tertile 2	36	110.5	(77.4-157.6)	-33.4					
Tertile 3	35	106.8	(73.1-156.1)	-35.6	0.04				
Abbreviations: Diff= proportional difference; CRC= colorectal cancer; HRT= hormone replacement therapy; NSAID= non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug; BMI= body mass index; MET= metabolic equivalent of task; g= grams; IU= international units; kcal= kilocalories; d= day; wk= week ^a The effect of the baseline characteristics on TLR5 expression was modeled using PROC GLM in SAS 9.4									

s), g (Cary, NC), controlling for age (continuous), gender (by study arm), study center and batch number, appropriate. ^b Reported means are geometric means (95% CI) and arithmetic means (95% CI) of optical density. ige (lу 1),

^c Proportional Difference= (Comparison mean- reference mean)/reference mean*100%

^d Reported p values are the Type III SS of the baseline characteristic. For baseline characteristics with more than two categories, the variables were treated as continuous and the reported p-value are of the overall trend

^tCategorized by tertiles

FIGURES



Figure 1. Measurement of TLR5 expression in the stroma surrounding the crypts of normal-appearing rectal mucosa using custom-designed quantitative image analysis software. The stroma scoring process involved identifying a previously scored crypt and determining if it was wide enough for scoring, tracing the outline of the region, and allowing the program to automatically divide the outline into equally-spaced segments and quantify TLR5 labeling optical density.

APPENDIX

			Baseline			1-`	Vr Follow-un		Relativ	e Treatment F	ffect ^g	Absolute ^h
		G	eometric ^f			G	eometric		Itelutiv			110501000
Baseline Total Calcium Intake	n	Mean	95% CI	p value	n	Mean	95% CI	p value	Rx effect	95% CI	p value	Rx Effect
Below Median ^b												
No calcium	20	199.5	(119.6-332.7)		20	125.5	(64.1-245.7)					
Calcium ^c	18	216.4	(126.3-371.0)	0.83	18	90.4	(44.5-183.6)	0.50	0.66	(0.29-1.54)	0.33	-51.99
No vitamin D	29	210.8	(136.8-324.9)		29	99.9	(58.2-171.3)					
Vitamin D ^d	29	121.1	(78.6-186.6)	0.07	29	81.7	(47.6-140.1)	0.60	1.42	(0.73 - 2.80)	0.30	71.56
Calcium only	20	192.6	(115.4-321.5)		20	91.1	(47.0-176.6)					
Vitamin D and calcium ^e	18	101.5	(59.1-174.1)	0.09	18	62.1	(30.9-124.6)	0.42	1.29	(0.56 - 3.00)	0.5402	62.06
Above Median												
No calcium	9	205.0	(85.6-490.7)		9	216.7	(66.8-702.5)					
Calcium	16	205.1	(106.5-394.7)	0.99	16	147.2	(60.9-355.6)	0.59	0.68	(0.27 - 1.74)	0.40	-69.60
No vitamin D	22	144.4	(83.0-251.1)		22	98.2	(51.3-188.0)					
Vitamin D	25	123.8	(73.7-208.1)	0.69	25	99.8	(54.3-183.6)	0.9698	1.19	(0.60-2.33)	0.61	22.21
Calcium only	19	121.2	(68.0-216.0)		19	77.0	(40.7-145.7)					
Vitamin D and calcium	19	119.1	(66.8-212.2)	0.97	19	87.9	(46.5-166.1)	0.77	1.16	(0.52-2.60)	0.7102	12.94
^a The effect of treatment agent on TL	R5 expr	ession wa	as modeled using	PROC MI	XED i	n SAS 9.4	4 (Cary, NC), co	ontrolling fo	or age, gender	(by study arm), and study	v center
^b Sex-specific total calcium intake cu	t-offs: N	/len- 743.	4 mg/d; Women-	847.3 mg/	d							
^c Calcium group were patients assign	ed to eit	her calciu	im or to calcium	+ vitamin I	D (con	nbined) in	the 4-arm grou	p. Patients	in the 2-arm g	group were exc	luded	
^d Vitamin D group consisted of patier	nts assig	ned to vit	amin D or to calc	cium + vita	min D	(combine	ed) in the 4-arm	group, or t	o vitamin D i	n the 2-arm gro	oup	
^e Vitamin D and Calcium group const	isted of	patients a	ssigned to calcium	m + vitami	n D (c	ombined)	of the 4-arm gr	oup, or to v	vitamin D of t	he 2-arm group)	
¹ Data were log-transformed. Reporte	d values	are geon	netric means (95%	% CI) of op	tical c	lensity						
^g Relative Treatment effect= $[(Tx Y1)]$)/(Tx Bl	L)]/[(Pl Y	1)/(Pl BL)]									
ⁿ Absolute Treatment effect= [(Tx Y1)-(Tx B	L)]-[(Pl Y	(1)-(Pl BL)]									

Table S.2. Categorical Baseline Predictor at Baseline ^a	s of TLR	85 Express	ion in Upper 40%	of Stroma	l Region			
			Upper 40% of str	omal regi	on			
		Geometric						
Baseline Characteristics	n	Mean	95% CI	Diff ^c	p value ^d			
Age			,,,,,,,,,		P / mile			
<55	33	76 7	(53 9-109 1)					
55-63	35	92.8	(665-1293)	20.9				
>63	37	74 3	(53.8-102.6)	-3.2	093			
Sex	51	1 110	(00.0 102.0)	0.2	0.75			
Men	49	81.2	(53.8-122.6)					
Women	56	75.5	(55.5-102.7)	-7.0	0.78			
Race			,					
Non-White	22	118.4	(76.5-183.3)					
White	83	72.5	(56.6-92.9)	-38.7	0.05			
1° family history of CRC			, ,					
No	93	89.1	(69.8-113.7)					
Yes	9	63.6	(36.1-112.1)	-28.6	0.26			
Regular NSAID use								
Less than once a week	73	83.9	(63.4-111.2)					
Once a week or greater	32	76.8	(55.3-106.5)	-8.5	0.65			
Regular aspirin user								
Less than once a week	60	83.1	(63.5-108.7)					
Once a week or greater	45	77.5	(56.0-107.3)	-6.7	0.71			
Current HRT user (women only, N=56)								
No	40	74.5	(51.6-107.5)					
Yes	16	61.7	(32.9-115.5)	-17.2	0.63			
Smoking status								
Never	61	80.5	(60.5-107.1)					
Former	36	75.1	(53.5-105.4)	-6.7				
Current	8	104.7	(56.9-192.7)	30.1	0.69			
Multivitamin user								
No	34	90.5	(66.9-122.4)					
Yes	71	72.6	(53.9-97.9)	-19.8	0.26			
Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^t *								
Low	33	76.6	(55.9-104.9)					
Moderate	36	107.4	(80.2-143.9)	40.3				
High	36	56.1	(40.3-77.9)	-26.8	0.14			
BMI								
Normal (<25)	22	69.7	(45.9-106.0)					
Overweight (25-30)	43	99.6	(73.2-135.4)	42.8				
Obese (≥ 30)	40	72.7	(53.6-98.7)	4.3	0.39			
Number of adenomas								
1 polyp	76	81.2	(62.2-106.2)					
> 1 polyp	29	80.3	(55.8-115.7)	-1.1	0.96			
Had advanced adenomas								
No	83	80.7	(61.9-105.3)					
Yes	19	84.6	(54.6-131.1)	4.8	0.85			
Had serrated adenomas								
No	79	72.8	(56.4-94.0)					
Yes	26	105.0	(72.8-151.3)	44.2	0.07			

at Baseline ^a (Cont.)	5 01 1 L	KS Express	sion in Opper 407	o or strom	ai Kegioli			
		Upper 40% of stromal region						
		(Geometric	<u></u>				
Baseline Characteristics	n	Mean	95% CI	Diff ^c	p value ^d			
Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *								
Low	35	88.2	(63.9-121.7)					
Medium	36	92.8	(64.9-132.5)	5.2				
High	34	66.9	(48.3-92.7)	-24.2	0.19			
Percent daily calories from fat ^{**}								
Low	35	81.5	(58.6-113.3)					
Moderate	35	116.0	(80.7-166.6)	42.3				
High	35	65.1	(47.9-88.4)	-20.2	0.23			
Dietary fiber (g/1000kcal/d) ^t *								
Low	35	70.2	(51.1-96.5)					
Moderate	35	95.8	(67.9-135.1)	36.5				
High	35	82.3	(57.2-118.5)	17.3	0.51			
Red and processed meat, servings/d								
< 0.5	37	87.9	(63.6-121.3)					
0.5-1	30	86.4	(59.0-126.5)	-1.7				
≥ 1	38	70.7	(50.1-99.8)	-19.5	0.34			
Achieved daily recommended intake of fruit	and veg	getables (\geq :	5 servings/d) ^t *					
No	66	83.6	(63.7-109.6)					
Yes	39	76.6	(54.7-107.1)	-8.4	0.65			
Alcohol intake								
None	36	69.8	(49.3-98.7)					
$\leq 1 \text{ drink/wk}$	46	78.5	(55.8-110.5)	12.5				
> 1 drink/wk	23	107.8	(70.8-164.1)	54.6	0.13			
Vitamin D Baseline Serum Levels (Tertiles)								
Low (12.90-17.90)	35	79.5	(57.2-110.5)					
Medium (17.91-26.91)	36	81.9	(57.7-116.3)	3.1				
High (26.92-68.75)	34	82.2	(56.9-118.9)	3.5	0.88			
Baseline Calcium Intake (Tertiles)								
Tertile 1	34	101.5	(74.9-137.6)					
Tertile 2	36	68.9	(48.8-97.2)	-32.2				
Tertile 3	35	67.1	(46.4-97.0)	-33.9	0.05			
Abbraviations: Diff= propartional difference	· CPC-	- anlorantal	annaar: UDT-har	mono ronla	aamant			

Table S.2. Categorical Baseline Predictors of TLD5 Expression in Upper 40% of Stremal Degion
Table 5.2. Categorical baseline reductors of rEKS Expression in Opper 4070 of Stromar Region
at Baseline ^a (Cont.)

Abbreviations: Diff= proportional difference; CRC= colorectal cancer; HRT= hormone replacement therapy; NSAID= non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug; BMI= body mass index; MET= metabolic equivalent of task; g= grams; IU= international units; kcal= kilocalories; d= day; wk= week

^a The effect of the baseline characteristics on TLR5 expression was modeled using PROC GLM in SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC), controlling for age (continuous), gender (by study arm), study center and batch number, where appropriate.

^b Reported means are geometric means (95% CI) and arithmetic means (95% CI) of optical density.

^c Proportional Difference= (Comparison mean- reference mean)/reference mean*100%

^d Reported p values are the Type III SS of the baseline characteristic. For baseline characteristics with more than two categories, the variables were treated as continuous and the reported p-value are of the overall trend

^tCategorized by tertiles

Table S.3. Categorical Baseline Predictor at Baseline ^a	rs of TLF	R5 Express	ion in Lower 60%	6 of Strom	al Region
			Lower 60% of st	romal regio)n
	-	G	eometric	8_	
Baseline Characteristics	n	Mean	95% CI	Diff ^c	p value ^d
Age					1
<55	33	30.8	(19.3-49.0)		
55-63	35	42.0	(27.1-65.1)	36.3	
>63	37	42.9	(28.0-65.7)	39.3	0.23
Sex			(,		
Men	49	36.7	(21.4-63.2)		
Women	56	36.2	(24.2-54.3)	-1.3	0.97
Race			,		
Non-White	22	80.4	(45.9-141.0)		
White	83	31.9	(23.2-43.8)	-60.4	0.00
1° family history of CRC			· · · ·		
No	93	42.5	(31.2-58.0)		
Yes	9	31.7	(15.4-65.1)	-25.5	0.44
Regular NSAID use					
Less than once a week	73	44.8	(31.1-64.4)		
Once a week or greater	32	30.5	(20.0-46.7)	-31.8	0.13
Regular aspirin user					
Less than once a week	60	37.3	(26.2-53.2)		
Once a week or greater	45	40.1	(26.2-61.5)	7.5	0.76
Current HRT user (women only, N=56)					
No	40	34.9	(22.6-53.8)		
Yes	16	22.3	(10.6-46.7)	-36.2	0.33
Smoking status			,		
Never	61	40.8	(27.9-59.5)		
Former	36	33.9	(21.7-53.2)	-16.7	
Current	8	49.9	(22.2-111.9)	22.4	0.98
Multivitamin user			,		
No	34	49.2	(33.2-72.6)		
Yes	71	30.1	(20.5-44.3)	-38.7	0.05
Physical activity (MET-min/wk) ^t *			,		
Low	33	38.2	(24.8-58.9)		
Moderate	36	47.7	(31.9-71.3)	25.0	
High	36	27.5	(17.5-43.3)	-27.9	0.239
BMI					
Normal (<25)	22	30.5	(17.4-53.5)		
Overweight (25-30)	43	40.8	(27.0-61.7)	33.9	
Obese (≥ 30)	40	40.4	(26.8-60.9)	32.5	0.64
Number of adenomas					
1 polyp	76	37.8	(26.6-53.7)		
> 1 polyp	29	39.6	(24.5-63.9)	4.8	0.86
Had advanced adenomas			,		
No	83	37.5	(26.5-53.1)		
Yes	19	44.0	(24.8-77.9)	17.3	0.62
Had serrated adenomas			. ,		
No	79	32.1	(23.0-44.7)		
Yes	26	59.3	(37.0-95.2)	85.0	0.02

at Baseline ^a (Cont.)		S Express	Ion in Lower oo		ai Kegioli			
		Lower 60% of stromal region						
		6	Geometric					
Baseline Characteristics	n	Mean	95% CI	Diff ^c	p value ^d			
Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *								
Low	35	42.0	(27.4-64.2)					
Medium	36	45.3	(28.3-72.6)	8.0				
High	34	30.8	(20.0-47.3)	-26.6	0.26			
Percent daily calories from fat ^t *								
Low	35	39.3	(25.5-60.6)					
Moderate	35	61.2	(38.0-98.5)	55.6				

Table S.2. Cotagonical Descline Ductions of TI D5 Expression in Lewer (00/ of Stromal Design

					1			
Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *								
Low	35	42.0	(27.4-64.2)					
Medium	36	45.3	(28.3-72.6)	8.0				
High	34	30.8	(20.0-47.3)	-26.6	0.26			
Percent daily calories from fat [*] *								
Low	35	39.3	(25.5-60.6)					
Moderate	35	61.2	(38.0-98.5)	55.6				
High	35	28.5	(19.0-42.6)	-27.6	0.20			
Dietary fiber (g/1000kcal/d) ^t *								
Low	35	34.5	(22.6-52.7)					
Moderate	35	42.4	(26.9-66.9)	22.7				
High	35	40.3	(24.9-65.3)	16.7	0.61			
Red and processed meat, servings/d								
< 0.5	37	39.6	(25.8-60.7)					
0.5-1	30	38.8	(23.4-64.3)	-2.0				
≥ 1	38	36.6	(23.2-57.8)	-7.5	0.79			
Achieved daily recommended intake of fruit and vegetables (≥ 5 servings/d) [*]								
No	66	42.6	(29.9-60.7)					
Yes	39	31.9	(20.6-49.5)	-25.0	0.25			
Alcohol intake								
None	36	35.7	(22.5-56.8)					
$\leq 1 \text{ drink/wk}$	46	38.5	(24.4-60.8)	7.8				
> 1 drink/wk	23	42.9	(24.5-75.2)	20.1	0.62			
Vitamin D Baseline Serum Levels (Tertiles)								
Low (12.90-17.90)	35	40.4	(26.2-62.1)					
Medium (17.91-26.91)	36	40.9	(25.9-64.6)	1.3				
High (26.92-68.75)	34	32.2	(19.9-52.0)	-20.3	0.41			
Baseline Calcium Intake (Tertiles)								
Tertile 1	34	55.0	(37.1-81.5)					
Tertile 2	36	29.6	(19.0-46.2)	-46.2				
Tertile 3	35	28.4	(17.6-45.7)	-48.4	0.02			

Abbreviations: Diff= proportional difference; CRC= colorectal cancer; HRT= hormone replacement therapy; NSAID= non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug; BMI= body mass index; MET= metabolic equivalent of task; g= grams; IU= international units; kcal= kilocalories; d= day; wk= week

^a The effect of the baseline characteristics on TLR5 expression was modeled using PROC GLM in SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC), controlling for age (continuous), gender (by study arm), study center and batch number, where appropriate.

^b Reported means are geometric means (95% CI) and arithmetic means (95% CI) of optical density.

^c Proportional Difference= (Comparison mean- reference mean)/reference mean*100%

^d Reported p values are the Type III SS of the baseline characteristic. For baseline characteristics with more than two categories, the variables were treated as continuous and the reported p-value are of the overall trend

^tCategorized by tertiles

Table S.4. Categorical Baseline Predictors of TLR5 Expression in ϕ h at Baseline ^a							
			φh	b			
Baseline Characteristics	n	Mean	95% CI	Diff ^c	p value ^d		
Age							
<55	33	65.7	(61.2-70.3)				
55-63	35	62.7	(58.4-67.0)	-4.6			
>63	37	60.8	(56.7-65.0)	-7.5	0.08		
Sex			. ,				
Men	49	58.8	(53.6-64.1)				
Women	56	63.4	(59.5-67.4)	7.9	0.17		
Race			, , ,				
Non-White	22	56.8	(51.2-62.4)				
White	83	64.4	(61.2-67.6)	13.3	0.02		
1° family history of CRC							
No	93	62.8	(59.7-66.0)				
Yes	9	61.2	(53.9-68.6)	-2.6	0.68		
Regular NSAID use			()				
Less than once a week	73	61.5	(58.0-65.1)				
Once a week or greater	32	65.2	(61.1-69.3)	5.9	0.14		
Regular aspirin user			(*******)				
Less than once a week	60	63.8	(60.4-67.2)				
Once a week or greater	45	61.7	(57.6-65.9)	-3.2	0 38		
Current HRT user (women only $N=56$)	10	01.7	(37.0 05.5)	5.2	0.50		
No	40	63.2	(58 3-68 0)				
Ves	16	68.8	$(60.5 \cdot 00.0)$	89	0.28		
Smoking status	10	00.0	(00.5 77.1)	0.9	0.20		
Never	61	60.8	(57.2-64.5)				
Former	36	65.7	(61.3-70.0)	79			
Current	8	63.0	(01.3-70.0)	3.5	0.17		
Multivitamin user	0	05.0	(33.2-70.8)	5.5	0.17		
No	34	61.4	(57.5,65.2)				
N0 Ves	54 71	64.6	(57.5-05.2)	53	0.10		
1 cs D hysical activity (MET min/wk) ^t *	/1	04.0	(00.8-08.4)	5.5	0.19		
Low	22	62.3	(58.0.66.6)				
Moderate	26	64.2	(58.0-00.0)	3.0			
High	26	62.1	(00.2 - 08.2)	5.0	0.05		
DMI	30	02.1	(37.0-00.0)	-0.5	0.95		
Divit Normal (<25)	22	62.1	(569675)				
Normal (<23)	42	02.1	(30.8-07.3)	5 (
Overweight (25-30)	43	05.0	(01.0/-09.5)	5.0	0.22		
Number of a denomination (≥ 50)	40	01.5	(37.3-03.2)	-1.4	0.23		
Number of adenomas	76	(2.0	$(50 \land (\land \land))$				
	/0	03.0	(59.6-66.4)	0.2	0.07		
> I polyp	29	63.1	(58.5-67.8)	0.2	0.90		
Had advanced adenomas	02	(1 1	((0, 0, (7, 2)))				
INO Maria	85	04.1	(60.8-6/.3)	0.4	0.07		
Yes	19	58.7	(53.4-64.0)	-8.4	0.07		
Had serrated adenomas	70	(2.0	((0.4.(7.1)				
INO V	79	63.8	(60.4-67.1)	4.0	0.33		
Y es	26	61.2	(36.3-65.9)	-4.0	0.33		

Table S.4. Categorical Baseline Predictors of TLR5 Expression in ϕ h at Baseline ^a (Cont.)							
			φh	b			
Baseline Characteristics	n	Mean	95% CI	Diff ^c	p value ^d		
Total energy intake (kcal/d) ^t *							
Low	35	63.9	(59.7-68.0)				
Medium	36	62.1	(57.5-66.8)	-2.7			
High	34	62.9	(58.7-67.1)	-1.5	0.69		
Percent daily calories from fat ^t *							
Low	35	64.4	(60.0-68.8)				
Moderate	35	62.7	(57.9-67.5)	-2.6			
High	35	62.0	(57.9-66.1)	-3.7	0.40		
Dietary fiber (g/1000kcal/d) ^t *							
Low	35	62.6	(58.5-66.8)				
Moderate	35	63.4	(59.0-67.9)	1.3			
High	35	63.1	(58.4-67.8)	0.7	0.88		
Red and processed meat, servings/d			,				
< 0.5	37	65.0	(61.0-69.1)				
0.5-1	30	64.1	(59.3-68.9)	-1.4			
>1	38	60.0	(55.7-64.3)	-7.7	0.08		
Achieved daily recommended intake of fruit a	nd veg	etables (\geq :	5 servings/d) ^t *				
No	66	61.8	(58,4-65,3)				
Yes	39	65.1	(60.8-69.3)	5.2	0.19		
Alcohol intake			()				
None	36	62.6	(58.1-67.1)				
< 1 drink/wk	46	61.9	(57.5-66.3)	-1.1			
> 1 drink/wk	23	65.1	(59.7-70.6)	4.1	0.50		
Vitamin D Baseline Serum Levels (Tertiles)			()				
Low (12.90-17.90)	35	62.9	(58.7-67.1)				
Medium $(17 91-26 91)$	36	62.3	(57.9-66.8)	-0.8			
High (26.92-68.75)	34	64.2	(59.5-68.9)	2.2	0.61		
Baseline Calcium Intake (Tertiles)			(*********)				
Tertile 1	34	62.2	(58.2-66.2)				
Tertile 2	36	63.4	(58.8-67.9)	19			
Tertile 3	35	64.0	(59.2-68.9)	3.0	0.51		
Abbreviations: Diff= proportional difference:	CRC=	colorectal	cancer: HRT= ho	rmone repla	cement		
therapy NSAID = non-steroidal anti-inflamma	atory di	ug BMI=	body mass index.	MET= met	abolic		
equivalent of task: $g = grams$: IU = internation	al units	· kcal= kilo	calories: $d = dav$	wk= week			
^a The effect of the baseline characteristics on T	TLR5 e	xpression v	was modeled using	g PROC GL	M in SAS		

9.4 (Cary, NC), controlling for age (continuous), gender (by study arm), study center and batch number, where appropriate.

^b Defined as the percent expression in the upper 40% of stromal region to expression in whole stromal region. Values are means (95% CI) of the optical density (not geometric means)

^c Proportional Difference= (Comparison mean- reference mean)/reference mean*100%

^d Reported p values are the Type III SS of the baseline characteristic. For baseline characteristics with more than two categories, the variables were treated as continuous and the reported p-value are of the overall trend

^tCategorized by tertiles



Figure S.1. Distribution of Mean TLR5 Biomarker Optical Density Across Stroma in Calcium vs. Placebo Groups

Figure S.1. Mean TLR5 biomarker optical density across the stroma in calcium *versus* placebo groups was graphed at baseline and 1- year follow-up.

Figure S.2. Distribution of Mean TLR5 Biomarker Optical Density Across Stroma in Vitamin D vs. Placebo Groups



Figure S.2. Mean TLR5 biomarker optical density across the stroma in vitamin D *versus* placebo groups was graphed at baseline and 1-year follow-up.



Figure S.3. Distribution of Mean TLR5 Biomarker Optical Density Across Stroma in Calcium + Vitamin D vs. Placebo Group

Figure S.3. Mean TLR5 biomarker optical density across the stroma in calcium + vitamin D *versus* placebo groups was graphed at baseline and 1-year follow-up.





Figure S.4. Mean TLR5 biomarker optical density across the stroma in the 2-arm vitamin D *versus* placebo groups was graphed at baseline and 1-year follow-up.